

Intersection spaces and multiple transverse recurrence

Downloaded from: https://research.chalmers.se, 2025-12-01 17:08 UTC

Citation for the original published paper (version of record):

Björklund, M., Hartnick, T., Karasik, Y. (2025). Intersection spaces and multiple transverse recurrence. Journal dAnalyse Mathematique, 156(1): 97-150. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11854-025-0377-0

N.B. When citing this work, cite the original published paper.

research.chalmers.se offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all kind of research output: articles, dissertations, conference papers, reports etc. since 2004. research.chalmers.se is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library

INTERSECTION SPACES AND MULTIPLE TRANSVERSE RECURRENCE

Βv

MICHAEL BJÖRKLUND, TOBIAS HARTNICK AND YAKOV KARASIK

Abstract. We study multiple recurrence properties along separated cross sections for pmp actions of unimodular lcsc group on Polish spaces. We establish a multiple transverse recurrence theorem under the assumption that sufficiently large powers of the return time set are Delone sets. Typical examples of such situations arise from the theory of uniform approximate lattices.

Contents

1	Introduction	98
2	Measure theory	106
3	Separated cross sections and lifted measures	109
4	Transverse measure theory	122
5	Transversal recurrence	130
6	Ergodic theorems for cross sections	133
7	Transverse measures for actions of semidirect products	137
8	Intersection spaces	143
9	Application to uniform approximate lattices	147
References		150

1 Introduction

Given a Borel measurable action of a locally compact second countable (lcsc) group G on a Polish space X, we say that a point $x \in X$ is **recurrent** if there exists a sequence (g_n) in G with $g_n \to \infty$ such that $g_n.x \to x$. The Poincaré recurrence theorem ensures that in the case of a probability measure preserving (pmp) action, almost every point is recurrent. In this article we are interested in conditions which ensure a stronger recurrence property for generic points which we call **multiple transverse recurrence**.

More precisely, we are going to consider a pmp action of a lcsc group G on a Polish space X with invariant probability measure μ . If $Y \subset X$ is a sufficiently well-behaved cross section, then the measure μ gives rise to a transverse measure ν on Y (see [1, 13, 14]). By a **multiple transverse recurrence theorem** we shall mean a theorem which ensures that for every $r \geq 1$ and for $\nu^{\otimes r}$ -almost all $(y_1, \ldots, y_r) \in Y^r$ there exists a sequence $(g_n) \in G$ with $g_n \to \infty$ such that for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ we have both $g_n.y_j \to y_j$ (i.e., **multiple recurrence**) and $g_n.y_j \in Y$ (i.e., **transverse recurrence**). Multiple transverse recurrence is a rare phenomenon, which, as we will see later, only occurs under strong arithmetic assumptions on the return time set to the cross section.

In this article we are going to establish a multiple transverse recurrence theorem for a specific class of transverse systems whose return time sets are uniform approximate lattices in the sense of [2]. Before we go into the details of our setting, we discuss a specific example of a multiple transverse recurrence theorem, which motivated us to introduce the general setting considered below.

1.1 A motivating example. Let G_o be a non-compact unimodular lcsc group with Haar measure m_{G_o} . We recall that the closed subsets of a lcsc group G_o form a compact metrizable space $\mathcal{C}(G_o)$ under the Chabauty–Fell topology (see, e.g., [2]) on which G_o acts jointly continuously by $g.A := Ag^{-1}$. If P_o is a discrete subset of G_o , then we denote by Ω_{P_o} the **hull** of P_o , i.e., the orbit closure of P_o in $\mathcal{C}(G_o)$, and set $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times} := \Omega_{P_o} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. The subset $\mathcal{T}_{P_o} := \{Q \in \Omega_{P_o} \mid e \in P_o\}$ is then a **cross section** for the G_o -action on $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$, i.e., every G-orbit in $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ intersects \mathcal{T}_{P_o} . (This specific cross section is sometimes called the **canonical transversal** in the theory of aperiodic order.)

Motivated by problems in the theory of aperiodic order (see, e.g., [2, 3, 4]) we would like to find conditions which ensure that for many elements Q_1, \ldots, Q_r of \mathcal{T}_{P_o} the intersection $Q_1 \cap \cdots \cap Q_r$ is large in a suitable sense. This can be achieved under two additional assumptions on the initial set P_o .

Firstly, we need to assume enough discreteness of P_o . Recall that a subset $P_o \subset G_o$ is called **uniformly discrete** if its difference set $\Lambda := P_o P_o^{-1}$ does not accumulate at the identity; it is called **relatively dense** if there exists a compact subset $K \subset G_o$ such that $G_o = KP_o$. In the sequel we assume that $P_o \subset G_o$ is a subset such that the difference set Λ is relatively dense and Λ^3 is uniformly discrete. These assumptions imply that Λ is actually a **uniform approximate lattices** in the sense of [2], i.e., a relatively dense and discrete approximate subgroup, and hence Λ^n is actually uniformly discrete for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Secondly, we will assume that G_o is unimodular and that the set $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ admits a G_o -invariant probability measure μ . We are mostly interested in the case in which G_o itself is uncountable. In this case, the cross section \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} is a μ -nullset, hence it does not make sense to speak about μ -generic points in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} . However, the theory of transverse measures ensures that there is a finite measure ν on \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} , called the **transverse measure** of μ , such that for every bounded non-negative Borel function $f: G \times \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$,

$$\int_{\Omega_{P_o}} \sum_{p \in P} f(p^{-1}, p.P) \, d\mu(P) = \int_{G_o} \int_{\mathcal{T}_{P_o}} f(g, Q) \, d\nu(Q) \, dm_{G_o}(g),$$

and this provides us with a notion of genericity in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} . There are plenty of examples of sets P_o satisfying both assumptions, including all uniform model sets in the sense of [3].

Theorem 1.1 (Multiple transverse recurrence). There exist $g_n \in Q_1 \cap \cdots \cap Q_r$ for $v^{\otimes r}$ -almost all $(Q_1, \ldots, Q_r) \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_n}^r$ such that

$$g_n.Q_1 \rightarrow Q_1, \ldots, g_n.Q_r \rightarrow Q_r \text{ and } g_n \rightarrow \infty.$$

Note that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j \in \{1, ..., r\}$ we have $g_n.Q_j \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}$, hence the recurrence to $(Q_1, ..., Q_r)$ is in the transverse direction. The theorem implies in particular that generically the intersection $Q_1 \cap \cdots \cap Q_r$ is infinite, but one can actually say much more. Given a sequence (G_t) of subsets of G_o of positive Haar measures we define the **lower** (G_t) -**density** of a locally finite subset $A \subset G_o$ by

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}(A) := \underline{\lim_{t \to \infty}} \frac{|A \cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)}.$$

Theorem 1.2 (Positive density of intersections). We have, for $v^{\otimes r}$ -almost all $(Q_1, \ldots, Q_r) \in \mathcal{T}_{P_o}^r$ and every convenient sequence (G_t) in G_o

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_r)}(Q_1 \cap \cdots \cap Q_r) > 0.$$

See Definition 6.1 below for the definition of a convenient sequence; for the purposes of this introduction it suffices to know that such sequences exist in many amenable less groups and all semisimple algebraic groups over local fields.

1.2 A general setting. We now describe a general abstract setting, in which Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 hold true. For the rest of this introduction, G_o denotes a unimodular less group with a jointly continuous action on a Polish space X. A Borel subset $Z \subset X$ is called a **cross section** for the G_o -action if $G_o.Z = X$; it is called **separated** if the set $\Lambda(Z) := \{g \in G_o \mid g.Z \cap Z \neq \emptyset\}$ of **return times** to Z intersects some identity neighborhood in G_o only in $\{e\}$. For example, $\mathcal{T}_{P_o} \subset \Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ is a cross section with return time set $\Lambda = P_oP_o^{-1}$, hence a separated cross section if Λ is uniformly discrete.

From now on, $Z \subset X$ denotes a separated cross section and μ denotes a G_o -invariant probability measure on X. As in the motivating example there is then a finite measure ν on Z, called the **transverse measure** of μ , such that for every bounded non-negative Borel function $f: G \times Z \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$,

$$\int_{X} \sum_{g \in Z} f(g^{-1}, g.x) d\mu(x) = \int_{G_o} \int_{Z} f(g, z) d\nu(z) dm_{G_o}(g),$$

where $Z_x := \{g \in G_o \mid g.x \in Z\}$ denotes the set of **return times** from x to Z.

Definition 1.3. We say that the action of G_o on (X, μ) is

- **recurrent** if for μ -almost every $x \in X$ there exists a sequence (g_n) in G_o such that $g_n \to \infty$ and $g_n.x \to x$.
- *r*-fold recurrent if for $\mu^{\otimes r}$ -almost every $(x_1, \ldots, x_r) \in X^r$ there exists a sequence (g_n) in G_0 such that $g_n \to \infty$ and $g_n.x_j \to x_j$ for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.
- **transversally recurrent** if for v-almost every $z \in Z$ there exists a sequence (g_n) in G_o such that $g_n \to \infty$, $g_n.z \in Z$ and $g_n.z \to z$ (i.e., the recurrence is along the transversal).
- *r*-fold transversally recurrent if for $v^{\otimes r}$ -almost every $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z^r$ there exists a sequence (g_n) in G_o such that $g_n \to \infty$, $g_n.z_j \in Z$ and $g_n.z_j \to z_j$ for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

While transversal recurrence follows from recurrence, multiple transverse recurrence does not follow from multiple recurrence. The reason is that Z^r is not a transversal for the diagonal G_o -action on X^r , but only for the G_o -action on the (typically much smaller) **intersection space**

$$X^{[r]} = \{(x_1, \dots, x_r) \in X^r \mid \exists g \in G_o : g.x_j \in Z \text{ for all } j = 1, \dots, r\}.$$

Note that in the case where $X = \Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ and $Z = \mathcal{T}_{P_o}$ this space is given by

$$\{(Q_1,\ldots,Q_r)\in\Omega^r_{P_o}\mid Q_1\cap\cdots\cap Q_r\neq\emptyset\},\$$

hence the name. In order to establish r-fold transverse recurrence we first construct a finite invariant measure on $X^{[r]}$ with transverse measure $v^{\otimes r}$ and then establish

multiple recurrence for this measure. This can be carried out under suitable assumptions on the return time set Λ :

Theorem 1.4 (Finiteness of intersection measure). If Λ is a uniform approximate lattice in G_o , then there exists a unique finite G_o -invariant measure $\mu^{[r]}$ on $X^{[r]}$ whose transverse measure on Z^r is given by $v^{\otimes r}$. Moreover, if μ is G_o -ergodic, then, up to a multiplicative constant, $\mu^{[r]}$ is an r-fold G_o -invariant self-joining of the measure μ .

More explicitly, the last statement means that the normalized transverse measure, i.e., the probability measure $\mu^{[r]}(X^{[r]})^{-1} \cdot \mu^{[r]}$, pushes forward to μ under each of the projections $\operatorname{proj}_j: X^{[r]} \to X, (Q_1, \ldots, Q_r) \mapsto Q_j$ for $1 \le j \le r$.

Once the existence of a finite intersection measure is established, multiple transversal recurrence follows by standard ergodic theoretical methods (see Theorem 5.1 for the general statement):

Theorem 1.5 (Multiple transverse recurrence). *If* Λ *is a uniform approximate lattice in* G_o , *then the action of* G_o *on* X *is* r-fold transversally recurrent for every $r \in \mathbb{N}$.

Another consequence of the existence of a finite intersection measure concerns intersections of return time sets (see Theorem 6.4 for the general statement). Recall that for $z \in Z$ we denote by $Z_z \subset G_o$ the set of return times from x to Z.

Theorem 1.6 (Positive density of intersections). *If* Λ *is a uniform approximate lattice in* G_o , *then for every convenient sequence* (G_t) *of subsets of* G *we have*

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}(Z_{z_1}\cap\cdots\cap Z_{z_r})>0,$$

for $v^{\otimes r}$ -almost all $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z^r$.

Note that Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 are special cases of Theorems 1.5 and 1.6 respectively.

1.3 Establishing finiteness of the intersection measure. Before we discuss a few further generalizations of the theorems above we would like to comment on the methods behind the proof of Theorem 1.4. It turns out that this theorem can be derived from a restriction in stages theorem for transverse measures with respect to certain semidirect product groups. To state the theorem we assume that G = NL is the semidirect product of a normal subgroup N and a subgroup L, where N and L are unimodular lcsc groups and the L-action on N is Haar measure-preserving. We may then normalize Haar measures on G, N and L such that $m_G(W_NW_L) = m_N(W_N)m_L(W_L)$ for all Borel subsets $W_N \subset N$ and $W_L \subset L$.

We now consider a Borel action of a group G on a Polish space X with separated cross section Z. If we define Y := L.Z, then $X \supset Y \supset Z$ and

- G acts on X with separated cross section Z;
- N acts on X with cross section Y (which need not be separated);
- L acts on Y with separated cross section Z.

If μ is a finite G-invariant measure on X, then we denote the corresponding transverse measure (with respect to the G-action) on Z by ${}^G \operatorname{res}_Z^X(\mu)$. It turns out that this measure is finite and uniquely determines the original measure μ . We also use similar notations for the other two groups. The technical heart of this article is then the proof of the following theorem:

Theorem 1.7 (Restriction in stages). If the N-cross section Y is separated, then for every finite G-invariant measure μ on X the measure $^N \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu)$ is finite and L-invariant and

$$^{G}\operatorname{res}_{Z}^{X} = {^{L}\operatorname{res}_{Z}^{Y}} \circ {^{N}\operatorname{res}_{Y}^{X}}.$$

Let us demonstrate how Theorem 1.7 implies a more general version of Theorem 1.4. For this let X_1, \ldots, X_r be Polish spaces on which G_o acts jointly continuously with corresponding separated cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r and let μ_1, \ldots, μ_r be G_o -invariant probability measures on X_1, \ldots, X_r respectively. We then denote by ν_1, \ldots, ν_r and $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_r$ the corresponding transverse measure, respectively return time sets and abbreviate

$$G := G_o^r$$
, $X := X_1 \times \cdots \times X_r$ and $Z := Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r$.

Then Z is a separated cross section for the action of G on X. In order to apply Theorem 1.7 we observe that the group G admits semidirect product splittings of the form $G = N_k L$ for any $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$, where N_k denotes the kernel of the kth coordinate projection and $L \cong G_o$ denotes the diagonal subgroup. In this situation, the intermediate transversal Y := L.Z is given by the **generalized intersection space**

$$X^{[r]} = \{(x_1, \dots, x_r) \in X_1 \times \dots \times X_r \mid \exists g \in G_o : g.x_1 \in Z_1, \dots, g.x_r \in Z_r\}.$$

We say that the cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are **commensurable** if $Y = X^{[r]}$ is a separated cross section for the N_k -action on X for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ so that Theorem 1.7 applies. In this case

$$\mu_k^{[r]} := {}^{N_k} \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mu_r)$$

is a finite measure on $Y = X^{[r]}$ which is invariant under the action of the diagonal group $L \cong G_o$ and

$$^{L}\operatorname{res}_{\mathbf{Z}}^{\mathbf{Y}}(\mu_{k}^{[r]}) = {}^{G}\operatorname{res}_{\mathbf{Z}}^{\mathbf{X}}(\mu_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mu_{r}) = \nu_{1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \nu_{r}.$$

Furthermore, $\mu_k^{[r]}$ projects to the given measure μ_k on X_k . Moreover, we have

$$^{L}\text{res}_{Z}^{Y}(\mu_{1}^{[r]}) = \dots = {^{L}\text{res}_{Z}^{Y}}(\mu_{r}^{[r]}), \text{ and hence } \mu_{1}^{[r]} = \dots = \mu_{r}^{[r]},$$

i.e.,the measure $\mu^{[r]} := \mu_k^{[r]}$ is actually independent of k. This then establishes the following general version of Theorem 1.4:

Theorem 1.8 (Finiteness of intersection measure, general form). Assume that Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are commensurable. Then G_o acts diagonally on $X^{[r]}$ with separated cross section $Z := Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r$ and there is a unique finite G_o -invariant measure $\mu^{[r]}$ on $X^{[r]}$ such that

$$^{G_o}\operatorname{res}_Z^{X^{[r]}}(\mu^{[r]}) = \nu_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \nu_r.$$

Moreover, if μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are G_o -ergodic, then, up to a multiplicative constant, $\mu^{[r]}$ is a G_o -invariant joining of the measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r .

In order to apply the theorem, one needs to give criteria which ensure that the cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are commensurable. This is the point where we need discreteness and cocompactness assumptions on the return times:

Theorem 1.9 (Commensurability criterion). The cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are commensurable provided the intersection $\Lambda := \Lambda_1 \cap \cdots \cap \Lambda_r$ is relatively dense in G_o and none of the product sets $\Lambda_i^3 \Lambda_i^3$ accumulates at the identity.

Note that if $X_1 = \cdots = X_r$ and $Z_1 = \cdots = Z_r$ this condition is satisfied if and only if $\Lambda = \Lambda_1 = \cdots = \Lambda_r$ is a uniform approximate lattice.

1.4 Generalizations. Just as Theorem 1.4 implies Theorems 1.5 and 1.6 (and hence in particular Theorems 1.1 and 1.2) we can deduce from Theorem 1.8 the following theorems.

Theorem 1.10 (Multiple transverse recurrence, general form). *If the* cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are commensurable, then for $v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_r$ -almost all $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r$ there exists a sequence (g_n) in $(Z_1)_{z_1} \cap \cdots \cap (Z_r)_{z_r}$ such that

$$g_n z_1 \to z_1, \ldots, g_n z_r \to z_r \text{ and } g_n \to \infty.$$

Theorem 1.11 (Positive density of intersections, general form). *If the cross sections* Z_1, \ldots, Z_r *are commensurable, then for every convenient sequence* (G_r) *of subsets of* G*, we have*

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}((Z_1)_{z_1}\cap\cdots\cap(Z_r)_{z_r})>0,$$

for $v_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes v_r$ -almost all $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r$.

This allows us in particular to establish the following twisted versions of Theorems 1.1 and 1.2:

Corollary 1.12 (Twisted multiple transverse recurrence and twisted positive density). Let P_o , μ and ν be as in Subsection 1.1 and let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r$ be contained in the subgroup of G_o generated by P_o .

(i) For $v^{\otimes r}$ -almost all $(Q_1, \ldots, Q_r) \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}^r$ there exist $g_n \in \bigcap_{k=1}^r \lambda_k Q_k \lambda_k^{-1}$ such that

$$\lambda_1^{-1}g_n\lambda_1.Q_1 \to Q_1, \quad \dots, \quad \lambda_r^{-1}g_n\lambda_r.Q_r \to Q_r \quad and \quad g_n \to \infty.$$

(ii) For every convenient sequence (G_t) in G_o , we have

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}(\lambda_1 Q_1 \lambda_1^{-1} \cap \cdots \cap \lambda_r Q_r \lambda_r^{-1}) > 0,$$

for
$$v^{\otimes r}$$
-almost all $(Q_1, \ldots, Q_r) \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}^r$.

We do not know whether separatedness of Y can be replaced by a weaker condition in Theorem 1.7. If this was the case, then the assumptions in all of our theorems could be weakened accordingly.

1.5 A general correspondence theorem for transverse measures. It is obvious from the results listed above that transverse measures (of finite measures) play a central role in this article. In recent years there have been a number of excellent expositions of the theory of transverse measures, see in particular [1, 13, 14], and in preparing this article we profited very much from these expositions. However, for the purposes of the present article we needed a version of transverse measure theory which applies to actions which are not necessarily essentially free and measures which are not necessarily finite (but only σ -finite). For the convenience of the reader we thus decided to include a self-contained treatment of the theory of transverse measures in this specific context. Let us briefly summarize this theory here:

We consider a Borel action $G \curvearrowright X$ of a unimodular lcsc group G on a standard Borel space X with separated cross section Y. We fix a Haar measure m_G on G throughout. The action of G on X defines an equivalence relation on X, the **orbit relation** of $G \curvearrowright X$, and we denote by $R_{G,Y}$ (or R_Y if G is clear from context) the restriction of this orbit relation to Y; it is called the **cross section equivalence relation**. We are going to construct a bijective correspondence between certain classes of G-invariant G-finite measures on G and certain classes of G-invariant G-finite measures on G and certain classes of G-invariant G-finite measures on G obtain this perfect correspondence, we have to fix certain finiteness conditions on the measures in questions.

Definition 1.13. A **Borel exhaustion** of *Y* is an increasing sequence $\mathcal{Y} = (Y_n)$ in \mathcal{B}_Y such that $Y = \bigcup Y_n$. A Borel measure ν on *Y* is called \mathcal{Y} -finite if $\nu(Y_n) < \infty$ for all *n*, and we denote by $M(Y, \mathcal{Y})$ the space of all \mathcal{Y} -finite Borel measures on *Y*.

We fix once and for all a Borel exhaustion $\mathcal{G} = (K_n)$ of G by compact sets, such that every compact set in G is contained in some K_n . For every Borel exhaustion $\mathcal{Y} = (Y_n)$ of Y we then obtain a Borel exhaustion $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}} := (K_n, Y_n)$ of X. We now denote by $M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})^G \subset M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})$ the subspace of G-invariant measures and by $M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_{G,Y}} \subset M(Y, \mathcal{Y})$ the subspace of $R_{G,Y}$ -invariant measures.

Theorem 1.14 (Measure correspondence, general case). *If* G *is unimodular, then with notation as above there exist mutually inverse bijections*

$$^{G}\operatorname{res}_{Y}^{X}: M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{G})^{G} \to M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_{G,Y}}, \quad and \quad ^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{Y}^{X}: M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_{G,Y}} \to M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{G})^{G},$$

such that the following hold for all pairs (μ, ν) with $\mu \in M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})^G$ and $\nu = {}^G \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu)$:

(i) For every bounded non-negative Borel function F on $G \times Y$ we have

$$(m_G \otimes v)(F) = \int \sum_{g \in Y_x} F(g^{-1}, g.x) d\mu(x).$$

(ii) If $C \subset G \times Y$ is a Borel subset such that $a: C \to X$, $(g, y) \mapsto g.y$ is injective, then

$$\mu(a(C)) = (m_G \otimes \nu)(C).$$

(iii) If B be a G-invariant Borel set in X, then

$$\mu(B) = 0 \iff \nu(B \cap Y) = 0.$$

If $\mu \in M(X, \mathcal{Z}_{\mathfrak{I}})^G$, then $\nu := {}^G \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu)$ is called the **transverse measure** of μ , and μ is called the **lifted measure** of ν . An important special case of Theorem 1.14 concerns the case of Radon measures:

Corollary 1.15 (Measure correspondence for Radon measures). Let $G \cap X$ be a continuous action of a less unimodular group G on a less space X and let $Y \subset X$ be a closed separated cross section. Then G res $_Y^X$ restricts to a bijection between G-invariant Radon measures on X and G and G invariant Radon measures on Y.

1.6 Structure of the paper. This paper is composed of three parts. Part 1 (Section 2–Section 4) develops transverse measure theory in our specific setting and establishes Theorem 1.14 and Corollary 1.15. Part 2 (Sections 5 and 6) summarizes the basic ergodic theory of transverse measures. In particular, we

establish Theorem 1.10 and Theorem 1.11 in the case r=1. Our main results are derived in Part 3 (Section 7–Section 9): In Section 7 we study transverse measure for semidirect product groups and establish Theorem 1.7. We apply this in Section 8 to the study of intersection spaces and establish Theorems 1.8–1.11 (and hence also Theorems 1.4–1.6 as special cases). In Section 9 we specialize further to the case of return times which are uniform approximate lattices and establish Theorem 1.1, Theorem 1.2 and Corollary 1.12.

2 Measure theory

This section summarizes our notation concerning measurable actions of lcsc groups on standard Borel spaces and the corresponding invariant measures. The first three subsections (Subsection 2.1, Subsection 2.2 and Subsection 2.3) contain standard material concerning general measurable spaces, standard Borel spaces and Borel-G-spaces respectively. In Subsection 2.4 we discuss the notion of invariance of a set or a measure under a countable Borel equivalence relation, which will play a crucial role in the sequel.

2.1 Measurable spaces. Let (X, \mathcal{B}_X) be a measurable space. We refer to the elements of \mathcal{B}_X as **Borel sets**. A **Borel measure on** X is a σ -additive measure on \mathcal{B}_X with values in $[0, \infty]$. We denote by M(X) the set of all Borel measures on X (we suppress the dependence on the σ -algebra \mathcal{B}_X). A **Borel exhaustion** is an increasing sequence $\mathcal{X} := \{X_n : n \geq 1\}$ in \mathcal{B}_X such that $X = \bigcup_n X_n$, and a Borel measure μ on X is \mathcal{X} -finite if $\mu(X_n) < \infty$ for all n. The set of all \mathcal{X} -finite Borel measures on X is denoted by $M(X;\mathcal{X})$, and a Borel measure is σ -finite if it is \mathcal{X} -finite for some Borel exhaustion \mathcal{X} . If $\mu(X) < \infty$, then μ is of course \mathcal{X} -finite for any Borel exhaustion \mathcal{X} . In this case, we say that μ is a **finite Borel measure**, and if $\mu(X) = 1$, we say that μ is a **Borel probability measure**. We denote by $M_{\sigma}(X)$, $M_{\text{fin}}(X)$ and Prob(X) the spaces of σ -finite Borel measures, finite Borel measures and Borel probability measures on X respectively. Clearly,

$$\operatorname{Prob}(X) \subset M_{\operatorname{fin}}(X) \subset M(X; \mathfrak{X}) \subset M_{\sigma}(X),$$

for every Borel exhaustion \mathcal{X} . If μ is a σ -finite Borel measure on X, we say that a Borel set B is μ -null if $\mu(B) = 0$ and μ -conull if $\mu(B^c) = 0$. If $\mathscr{A} \subset \mathscr{B}_X$ is a sub- σ -algebra and $T \subset X$ is a Borel set, we define the σ -algebra $\mathscr{A}|_T$ by $\mathscr{A}|_T = \{B \cap T : B \in \mathscr{A}\}$. We refer to $\mathscr{A}|_T$ as the **restriction of** \mathscr{A} to T. We also define $\mathscr{B}_T := \mathscr{B}_X|_T$, and refer to the elements in \mathscr{B}_T as **Borel sets in** T.

If (X, \mathcal{B}_X) and (Y, \mathcal{B}_Y) are measurable spaces, then a map $\varphi : X \to Y$ is **Borel** if $\varphi^{-1}(\mathcal{B}_Y) \subset \mathcal{B}_X$. If φ is a bijection and both φ and φ^{-1} are Borel, we say that φ is a **Borel isomorphism**. More generally, if A is a Borel set in X, then a map $\varphi : A \to Y$ is **Borel** if $\varphi^{-1}(\mathcal{B}_Y) \subset \mathcal{B}_A$. A map $f : A \to [0, \infty]$ is Borel if $A_\infty := f^{-1}(\{\infty\}) \in \mathcal{B}_A$ and $f|_{A \setminus A_\infty}$ is Borel.

2.2 Standard Borel spaces. We say that a measurable space (X, \mathcal{B}_X) is a **standard Borel space** if there exists a Polish (completely metrizable and separable) topology \mathcal{T} on X such that \mathcal{B}_X is the Borel σ -algebra generated by \mathcal{T} . In particular, there is a countable subset $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{B}_X$ which generates \mathcal{B}_X such that

$$\bigcap_{x \in B \in S} B = \{x\}, \quad \text{for all } x \in X.$$

We refer to S as a (countable) **separating family** for X.

Let us collect some basic facts about standard Borel spaces.

Lemma 2.1. Let (X, \mathcal{B}_X) and (Y, \mathcal{B}_Y) be standard Borel spaces and let $\varphi: X \to Y$ be a Borel map.

- (i) If $Z \subset X$ is a Borel set, then $(Z, \mathcal{B}_X|_Z)$ is a standard Borel space [12, Corollary 13.4].
- (ii) If φ is injective, then $\varphi(X)$ is a Borel set in Y and $\varphi: X \to \varphi(X)$ is a Borel isomorphism [12, Corollary 15.2].
- (iii) If φ has countable fibers, i.e., $\varphi^{-1}(\{y\})$ is at most countable for every $y \in Y$, then $\varphi(X)$ is a Borel set in Y and φ admits a Borel right-inverse. [12, Corollary 18.10].

We denote by $\mathcal{B}_{\operatorname{Prob}(X)}$ the smallest σ -algebra on $\operatorname{Prob}(X)$ with respect to which the maps $\mu \mapsto \mu(B)$, where B is a Borel set in X, are measurable. By [12, Section 17.E], if (X, \mathcal{B}_X) is standard, then so is $(\operatorname{Prob}(X), \mathcal{B}_{\operatorname{Prob}(X)})$.

2.3 Borel *G*-**spaces.** Let *G* be a locally compact and second countable (lcsc) group and let (X, \mathcal{B}_X) be a standard Borel space. We denote by \mathcal{B}_G the Borel σ -algebra on *G*, and note that both (G, \mathcal{B}_G) and $(G \times X, \mathcal{B}_G \otimes \mathcal{B}_X)$ are standard Borel spaces. Suppose $a: G \times X \to X$, $(g, x) \mapsto g.x$ is an action of *G* on *X*. If *a* is Borel, we say that (X, a) is a **Borel** *G*-**space**. If *H* is a closed subgroup of *G*, we denote by $a|_H$ the restriction of *a* to $H \times X$, and refer to the Borel *H*-space $(X, a|_H)$ as the *H*-**restriction of** (X, a).

Suppose (X, a) is a Borel G-space. A Borel set B in X is G-invariant if g.B = B for all $g \in G$. A Borel measure μ on X is G-invariant if $\mu(g.B) = \mu(B)$ for

every $g \in G$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}_X$, and we say that μ is G-ergodic if every G-invariant Borel set in X is either μ -null or μ -conull. We denote by $\operatorname{Prob}(X)^G$, $M_{\operatorname{fin}}(X)^G$, $M(X; \mathfrak{X})^G$ and $M_{\sigma}(X)^G$ the spaces of G-invariant Borel probability measures, G-invariant finite measures, G-invariant \mathcal{X} -finite measures and G-invariant σ -finite measures on G-invariant G-finite measures on G-invariant G-finite measures

Suppose (X, a) and (T, b) are Borel G-spaces. A Borel map $\pi: X \to T$ such that $\pi(g.x) = g.\pi(x)$ for all $g \in G$ and $x \in X$ is called a G-map. Note that if π is a G-map and $\mu \in M_{\text{fin}}(X)^G$, then $\pi_*\mu \in M_{\text{fin}}(T)^G$, where $\pi_*\mu(C) = \mu(\pi^{-1}(C))$ for $C \in \mathcal{B}_T$. We refer to $\pi_*\mu$ as the **push-forward** of μ under π (we only consider push-forwards of finite measures, as push-forwards of σ -finite measures are not σ -finite in general). We refer to $(T, \pi_*\mu)$ as the G-factor of (X, μ) induced by π . If H is a less group and $p: G \to H$ is a continuous homomorphism, then every Borel H-space (T, b_o) can be lifted to a Borel G-space (T, b), by setting $b(g, x) = b_o(p(g), x)$. We then say that G acts on T via p.

If $(X_1, a_1), \ldots, (X_r, a_r)$ are Borel *G*-spaces, let a_Δ denote the diagonal *G*-action on $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_r$, i.e., $a_\Delta(g, x) = (a_1(g, x_1), \ldots, a_r(g, x_r))$, for $g \in G$ and $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_r)$. Let π_k denote the projection from $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_r$ onto X_k . Note that π_k is a *G*-map. Suppose $\mu_k \in \operatorname{Prob}(X_k)^G$ for $k = 1, \ldots, r$. A *G*-invariant Borel probability measure μ on $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_r$ is a **joining** of $(X_1, \mu_1), \ldots, (X_r, \mu_r)$ if $(\pi_k)_*\mu = \mu_k$ for every k.

2.4 Countable Borel equivalence relations. Let (X, \mathcal{B}_X) be a standard Borel space. A Borel subset $E \subset X \times X$ is a **countable Borel equivalence** relation (cber) if E is an equivalence relation on X and for every $x \in X$, the set $\{y \in X : (x, y) \in E\}$ is countable.

Suppose E is a countable Borel equivalence relation. Let $A, B \subset X$ be Borel sets and $\varphi: A \to B$ a Borel surjection. Then φ is a **partial** E-map if $\operatorname{graph}(\varphi) \subset E \cap (A \times B)$. Note that, according to our terminology, every partial E-map $\varphi: A \to B$ is assumed to be **onto** B. We thus refer to A as the **domain** of φ and to B as the **range** of B, and we sometimes write $A = \operatorname{dom}(\varphi)$ and $B = \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)$. We denote by [E] the set of all injective (hence bijective) partial Borel E-maps. We then have the following notions of invariance under E:

Definition 2.2. A Borel set $B \subset X$ is E-invariant if

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\varphi), \quad \text{for all } \varphi \in [[E]].$$

A Borel measure μ on X is E-invariant if $\mu(\text{dom}(\varphi)) = \mu(\text{ran}(\varphi))$, for all $\varphi \in [[E]]$, and an E-invariant Borel measure μ on X is E-ergodic if every E-invariant Borel set in X is either μ -null or μ -conull.

We denote by $\operatorname{Prob}(X)^E$, $M_{\operatorname{fin}}(X)^E$, $M(X; \mathfrak{X})^E$ and $M_{\sigma}(X)^E$ the spaces of *E*-invariant Borel probability measures, *E*-invariant finite measures, *E*-invariant \mathfrak{X} -finite measures and *E*-invariant σ -finite measures on *X* respectively. In terms of Borel functions, *E*-invariance can be characterized as follows:

Lemma 2.3. Suppose μ is an E-invariant Borel measure and $f: X \to [0, \infty]$ is Borel. Then,

$$\int_{\mathrm{dom}(\varphi)} f \circ \varphi \, d\mu = \int_{\mathrm{ran}(\varphi)} f \, d\mu, \quad \textit{for every } \varphi \in [[E]].$$

Proof. If $B_{\infty} := f^{-1}(\{\infty\}) \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)$ has positive μ -measure, then so has $\varphi^{-1}(B_{\infty}) \cap \operatorname{dom}(\varphi)$. Hence,

$$\int_{\mathrm{dom}(\varphi)} f \circ \varphi \, d\mu = \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathrm{ran}(\varphi)} f \, d\mu = \infty,$$

and thus the identity in the lemma trivially holds. Let us from now on assume that $\mu(B_{\infty})=0$. Suppose $f=\chi_B$ for some Borel set $B\subset X$. If $\varphi\in [[E]]$, we define $\varphi_B:=\varphi_{\varphi^{-1}(B)\cap\operatorname{dom}(\varphi)}$, and note that $\varphi_B\in [[E]]$ with $\operatorname{dom}(\varphi_B)=\varphi^{-1}(B)\cap\operatorname{dom}(\varphi)$ and $\operatorname{ran}(\varphi_B)=B\cap\operatorname{ran}(\varphi)$. Since μ is E-invariant, we have $\mu(\operatorname{dom}(\varphi_B))=\mu(\operatorname{ran}(\varphi_B))$, and thus

$$\int_{\mathrm{dom}(\varphi)} f \circ \varphi \, d\mu = \mu(\mathrm{dom}(\varphi_B)) = \mu(\mathrm{ran}(\varphi_B)) = \int_{\mathrm{ran}(\varphi)} f \, d\mu.$$

We conclude that the lemma holds for every simple function. A standard approximation argument finishes the proof. \Box

3 Separated cross sections and lifted measures

In this section we discuss cross sections of Borel actions. We then explain how, under certain separability assumptions on the cross sections, measures on the cross section can be extended to measures on the whole space. Our main result is Theorem 3.14 which states that σ -finite measures on the transversal which are invariant under a certain equivalence relation can be canonically extended to G-invariant measures on the whole space, which are subject to a certain finiteness property.

3.1 Separated cross sections. Let *G* be a less group and (X, a) a Borel *G*-space. If $Y \subset X$ is a Borel set and $x \in X$, we define the **set of hitting times** Y_x by

$$Y_x := \{g \in G : g.x \in Y\} \subset G$$

and the **set of return times** $\Lambda_a(Y)$ by

$$\Lambda_a(Y):=\{g\in G:Y\cap g^{-1}.Y\neq\emptyset\}=\bigcup_{y\in Y}Y_y.$$

Lemma 3.1. *Suppose* $Y \subset X$ *is a U-separated cross section.*

- (i) If $V \subset G$ is a Borel set such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$, then $V \times Y$ is an injective Borel set. In particular, $|Y_x \cap V^{-1}| \leq 1$ for all $x \in X$.
- (ii) For every compact set $K \subset G$,

$$(1) M_K := \sup_{x \in X} |Y_x \cap K| < \infty.$$

- (iii) For every $x \in X$, the set Y_x is countable and $Y_xY_x^{-1} \subset \Lambda_a(Y)$. In particular, Y_x is a U-uniformly discrete (and hence closed) subset of G.
- (iv) The map $a: G \times Y \to X$ has countable fibers. In particular, if $C \subset G \times Y$ is a Borel set, then a(C) is a Borel set in X (by Lemma 2.1(iii)).
- (v) For every Borel set $B \subset X$, there are injective Borel sets $\widetilde{B}_1, \widetilde{B}_2, \ldots$ in $G \times Y$ such that

$$B = \bigsqcup_{k} a(\widetilde{B}_{k}).$$

Proof. (i) Suppose (v_1, y_1) , $(v_2, y_2) \in V \times Y$ such that $v_1.y_1 = v_2.y_2$. Since Y is U-separated,

$$v_1^{-1}v_2 \in \Lambda_a(Y) \cap V^{-1}V \subset \Lambda_a(Y) \cap U = \{e\},$$

and thus $v_1 = v_2$, whence $y_1 = y_2$.

(ii) Let $K \subset G$ be a compact set, and pick an open cover V_1, \ldots, V_p of K^{-1} such that $V_k^{-1}V_k \subset U$ for all k. By (i), $|Y_k \cap V_k^{-1}| \le 1$ for all k and k, and thus

$$|Y_x \cap K| \le \sum_{k=1}^p |Y_x \cap V_k^{-1}| \le p$$
, for all x .

(iii) Countability of Y_x is immediate from (ii). To prove the inclusion, pick $g_1, g_2 \in Y_x$, and note that

$$y := g_2 . x \in Y$$
 and $g_1 . x = (g_1 g_2^{-1}) . y \in Y$,

whence $g_1g_2^{-1} \in \Lambda_a(Y)$. Since g_1 and g_2 are arbitrary, $Y_xY_x^{-1} \subset \Lambda_a(Y)$.

- (iv) Fix $x \in X$ and an element $(g, y) \in a^{-1}(\{x\})$. Then, for any $(g', y') \in a^{-1}(\{x\})$, we have g'.y' = g.y = x, and thus $(g')^{-1} \in Y_x$ and $y' \in Y_x.x$. By (iii), Y_x is a countable set, so there are only countably many choices for g' and y'.
 - (v) Since G is separable, we can find a countable open cover

$$G = \bigcup_{k} V_k$$
, such that $V_k^{-1} V_k \subset U$ for all k .

Let $B'_k := B \cap V_k.Y$, and note that $B = \bigcup_k B'_k$. Define

$$B_1 := B'_1$$
 and $B_{k+1} = B'_{k+1} \setminus \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^k B_j\right)$,

for all k. Then, B_1, B_2, \ldots are disjoint Borel sets, $B = \bigsqcup_k B_k$ and $B_k \subset B'_k \subset V_k . Y$ for all k. Set $\widetilde{B}_k = a^{-1}(B_k) \cap (V_k \times Y)$. By (i), $V_k \times Y$ is an injective set, and thus \widetilde{B}_k is an injective set as well, and $a(\widetilde{B}_k) = a(a^{-1}(B_k) \cap (V_k \times Y)) = B_k$, for all k.

3.2 Transverse triples and their Chabauty–Fell maps. Throughout this subsection, G denotes a less group. We are interested in triples (X, a, Y) where (X, a) is a Borel G-space and $Y \subset X$ is a separated cross section. We refer to such a triple (X, a, Y) as a **transverse triple** over G (or more specifically a U-transverse triple if Y is U-separated). In this subsection we discuss an important class of examples of transverse triples which arise from certain discrete subsets of G. In fact, we are going to see that this class of examples is "universal" in a suitable sense.

We denote by $\mathcal{C}(G)$ the space of all closed subsets of G. The **Chabauty–Fell topology** is the topology on $\mathcal{C}(G)$ generated by open sets of the form

$$W_K := \{ P \in \mathcal{C}(G) : P \cap K = \emptyset \} \text{ and } W^V := \{ P \in \mathcal{C}(G) : P \cap V \neq \emptyset \},$$

where K and V range over all compact subsets and over all open subsets of G respectively (cf. [2, 3]). It is not hard to see that with respect to this topology, $\mathcal{C}(G)$ is a compact and second countable Hausdorff space, and a sequence (P_n) converges to a point P in $\mathcal{C}(G)$ if and only if

(i) for every $p \in P$, there exists a sequence (p_n) in G such that $p_n \in P_n$ for all n and $p_n \to p$ as $n \to \infty$,

(ii) if (n_k) is a sub-sequence and $p_k \in P_{n_k}$ such that $p_k \to p$ as $k \to \infty$, then $p \in P$.

Furthermore, the action

$$a_r: G \times \mathcal{C}(G) \to \mathcal{C}(G), \quad (g, P) \mapsto Pg^{-1}$$

is jointly continuous. If U is an identity neighborhood in G, then a subset $P_o \in \mathcal{C}(G)$ is U-uniformly discrete if $P_o P_o^{-1} \cap U = \{e\}$. We denote by

$$\mathfrak{C}^U(G)\subset \mathfrak{C}(G)$$

the subset of U-uniformly discrete subsets of G. It is easy to see that $\mathcal{C}^U(G)$ is a closed (hence compact) G-invariant subset of $\mathcal{C}(G)$. The subset

$$\mathfrak{I}:=\{P\in \mathfrak{C}(G): e\in P\}\subset \mathfrak{C}(G)$$

is closed, and thus compact. By definition, \mathcal{T} is a cross section for the *G*-action on $\mathcal{C}(G) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$.

Example 3.1. Assume that $P_o \subset G$ is a non-empty closed subset. We then define the **hull** of P_o as the orbit closure $\Omega_{P_o} := \overline{G.P_o}$ and set $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times} := \Omega_{P_o} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. Then $\mathcal{T}_{P_o} := \mathcal{T} \cap \Omega_{P_o}$ is a cross section for the a_r -action of G on $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$, though it will in general not be separated.

Proposition 3.2. The cross section \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} is *U*-separated if and only if P_o is *U*-uniformly discrete, hence $(X, a, Y) := (\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}, a_r, \mathfrak{T}_{P_o})$ is a transverse triple if and only if P_o is uniformly discrete.

Proof. We may assume without loss of generality that $e \in P_o$. For $Q \in Y = \mathcal{T}_{P_0}$ we have

$$g.Q \in Y \iff e \in g.Q = Qg^{-1} \iff g \in Q,$$

and hence $Y_Q = Q \subset QQ^{-1}$. By [4, Lemma 3.15] we have $PP^{-1} \subset \overline{P_oP_o^{-1}}$ for all $P \in \Omega_{P_o}$. Thus

$$\Lambda_{a_r}(Y) = \bigcup_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}} Q \subset \bigcup_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}} QQ^{-1} \subset \overline{P_o P_o^{-1}},$$

hence if P_o is *U*-uniformly discrete, then *Y* is *U*-separated. Conversely, if *Y* is *U*-separated, then P_o is *U*-uniformly discrete by Lemma 3.1(iii).

Proposition 3.2 provides plenty of transverse triples (X, a, Y), where X is a subset of $\mathcal{C}^U(G)$ and $Y = X \cap \mathcal{T}$. Our next goal is to show that every transverse triple over G admits a Borel-G-factor, which is of this form. For the proof we are going to use the fact that since every open set in G is σ -compact, the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{C}(G)}$ is generated by the sets W_K with K relatively compact.

Lemma 3.3. For every *U*-transverse triple (X, a, Y) the map

$$\pi: X \to \mathcal{C}^U(G), \ x \mapsto Y_x$$

is a well-defined Borel G-map with $\pi(Y) \subset \mathfrak{T}$ and $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{T}) = Y$.

Proof. It follows from Lemma 3.1(iii) that $Y_x \in \mathcal{C}^U(G)$ for every $x \in X$, hence π is well-defined. Note that

$$\pi(g.x) = Y_{g.x} = \{t \in G : tg.x \in Y\} = Y_x g^{-1} = g.\pi(x),$$

for all $g \in G$ and $x \in X$, so π is a G-map. Furthermore,

$$\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{I}) = \{ x \in X : e \in Y_x \} = Y.$$

To prove that π is Borel, it suffices to show that $\pi^{-1}(W_K)$ belongs to \mathscr{B}_X . Note that

$$\pi^{-1}(W_K) = \{x \in X : Y_x \cap K = \emptyset\} = (K^{-1}.Y)^c.$$

By Lemma 3.1(iv), K^{-1} . Y is a Borel set in X, so we are done.

Definition 3.4. The map $\pi: X \to \mathcal{C}^U(G)$ is referred to as the **canonical Chabauty–Fell** G-map.

We will be particularly interested in transverse triples (X, a, Y) for which X admits a G-invariant ergodic probability measure μ . In this case, if π denotes the canonical Chabauty–Fell G-map of (X, a, Y), then $\eta := \pi_* \mu$ is a G-ergodic Borel probability measure on $\mathcal{C}^U(G)$ with $\eta(\{\emptyset\}) = 0$. Note that $\operatorname{supp}(\eta)$ is a closed, hence compact, G-invariant subset of $\mathcal{C}^U(G)$. Since the latter space is second countable and η is ergodic, there exists an element $P_o \in \operatorname{supp}(\eta)$ whose G-orbit is dense in the support. In particular, $\Omega_{P_o} \subset \operatorname{supp}(\eta)$. Since $\eta(\{\emptyset\}) = 0$, we conclude that $X' := \pi^{-1}(\Omega_{P_o}^{\times})$ is a G-invariant μ -conull Borel subset of X, and we thus have a Borel G-map

$$\pi: (X', \mu|_{X'}) \to (\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}, \eta) \quad \text{such that } Y \cap X' = \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{T}_{P_o}).$$

Note that $\Lambda_a(Y) \subset \Lambda_{a_r}(\mathfrak{T}_{P_o})$. Here is a typical class of examples:

Example 3.2 (Cut-and-project sets). Let H be a less group and suppose $\Gamma < G \times H$ is a lattice whose projection to H is dense. Then $X := (G \times H)/\Gamma$, equipped with quotient Borel structure, is a Borel G-space, with a unique G-invariant (and G-ergodic) Borel probability measure μ (see [3, Lemma 5.7]).

Fix a pre-compact subset $W \subset H$ with non-empty interior, and set $Y := (\{e\} \times W)\Gamma$. It is not hard to check that Y is a separated cross section.

We thus obtain an associated Chabauty–Fell map $\pi: (G\times H)/\Gamma \to \mathcal{C}^U(G)$. The elements of $\pi(X)$ are called **cut-and-project sets** in the literature. Our arguments above show that μ -almost every $x\in X$, the G-hull $\Omega_{\pi(x)}^{\times}$ supports a G-invariant Borel probability measure η_x (which might depend on the point x). Under some additional mild assumptions on W, [3, Theorem 1.1] tells us that there is in fact a unique G-invariant (and thus G-ergodic) Borel probability measure η on $\pi(X)$, not supported on the empty set. In particular, in this case, $\eta_x = \eta$ for all x.

3.3 Borel *Y*-sections and lifted measures. Let *G* be a lcsc group with left-Haar measure m_G and let (X, a, Y) be a *U*-transverse triple over *G* for some open identity neighborhood *U* in *G*. By Lemma 2.1(iii) and Lemma 3.1(iv). the map

$$a|_{G\times Y}: G\times Y\to X$$

is surjective with countable fibers, hence admits a Borel section $b: X \to G \times Y$. Any such section is necessarily of the form

(2)
$$b(x) = b_{\beta}(x) := (\beta(x)^{-1}, \beta(x).x),$$

for some Borel map $\beta: X \to G$ such that $\beta(x) \in Y_x$ for all $x \in X$. In the sequel we are going to refer to such a map β as a **Borel** *Y*-section; such sections then always exist by the aforementioned lemmas.

Definition 3.5. If $\beta: X \to G$ is a Borel *Y*-section and ν is a Borel measure on *Y*, then the Borel measure ν_{β} on *X* given by

$$v_{\beta}(B) = m_G \otimes v(b_{\beta}(B)), \text{ for } B \in \mathscr{B}_X$$

is called the β -lifted measure of ν .

Our next goal is characterize the finiteness properties of lifted measures of \mathcal{Y} -finite Borel measures on Y, where $\mathcal{Y} = \{Y_n : n \ge 1\}$ is a given Borel exhaustion of Y. By [6, Theorem 2.A.10], there is a fundamental exhaustion $\mathcal{Y} = \{K_n : n \ge 1\}$ of G by compact sets, i.e., every K_n is a compact set, and every compact set in G is eventually contained in some K_n . We fix such an exhaustion once and for all and define $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{Y}} := \{K_n.Y_n : n \ge 1\}$. We refer to $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ as the $\mathcal{Y}_{\mathbf{Y}}$ -suspension of \mathcal{Y} .

Lemma 3.6. $y_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is a Borel exhaustion of X, and a Borel measure μ on X is $y_{\mathfrak{G}}$ -finite if and only if $\mu(K.Y_n) < \infty$ for every n and for every compact set K in G. In particular, this notion does not depend on the choice of fundamental exhaustion \mathfrak{G} .

Proof. The only non-trivial part of the lemma is to show that $K.Y_n$ is a Borel set for every compact set K in G. However, $K \times Y_n$ is a Borel set in $G \times Y$ and by Lemma 3.1(iv), $a|_{G \times Y}$ is Borel with countable fibers, so $a(K \times Y_n) = K.Y_n$ is a Borel set by Lemma 2.1(iii).

Lemma 3.7. Let $\{K_n\}$ be a fundamental exhaustion of G by compact sets, and $\{Y_n\}$ a Borel exhaustion of Y. Then there is a Borel section β such that $b_{\beta}(K_n, Y_n) \subset K_n \times Y_n$ for all n.

Proof. By Lemma 2.1(iii) and Lemma 3.1(iv), the map $a_n := a|_{K_n \times Y_n}$ has a Borel right-inverse

$$b_n: K_n.Y_n \to K_n \times Y_n, \ x \mapsto (b_{n,1}(x), b_{n,2}(x)).$$

Note that both $b_{n,1}$ and $b_{n,2}$ are Borel maps, and that they satisfy $b_{n,1}(x).b_{n,2}(x) = x$ for all $x \in K_n.Y_n$. We set $\beta_n(x) := b_{n,1}(x)^{-1}$, so that

$$b_n(x) = (\beta_n(x)^{-1}, \beta_n(x).x), \text{ for all } x \in K_n.Y_n.$$

In particular, $\beta_n(x) \in Y_x \cap K_n^{-1}$ for all $x \in K_n.Y_n$. Let $X_1 := K_1.Y_1$, and define inductively (the possibly empty Borel sets) X_2, X_3, \ldots by

$$X_{n+1}:=K_{n+1}.Y_{n+1}\setminus\bigcup_{m=1}^nX_m.$$

Since $\{K_n.Y_n\}$ is a Borel exhaustion of X, we see that X_1, X_2, \ldots is a Borel partition of X. We now define $\beta(x) = \beta_n(x)$ for $x \in X_n$, which is clearly a Borel Y-section with the property that

$$\beta(K_n.Y_n) = \bigcup_{m=1}^n \beta(X_m) \subset \bigcup_{m=1}^n K_m^{-1} = K_n^{-1},$$

since $\{K_n\}$ is increasing.

In the sequel, when constructing lifted measures, we will usually use *Y*-sections as in Lemma 3.7. In this case, lifts of σ -finite measures will again be σ -finite. More precisely:

Corollary 3.8. *Let* $\beta: X \to G$ *be a Borel Y-section such that*

$$b_{\beta}(K_n.Y_n) \subset K_n \times Y_n$$

for all n. Then for all $v \in M(Y, \mathcal{Y})$ we have $v_{\beta} \in M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})$.

Proof. This is immediate from the fact that $\nu_{\beta}(K_n, Y_n) \leq (m_G \otimes \nu)(K_n \times Y_n)$ for all n.

3.4 Cross-section equivalence relations. Let G be a lcsc group and let (X, a, Y) be a U-transverse triple over G for some open identity neighborhood $U \subset G$. We define the **cross section equivalence relation** $R_Y \subset Y \times Y$ by

$$R_Y := \{ (y, y') \in Y \times Y : y \in G.y' \}.$$

By definition, R_Y is just the restriction of the orbit relation of the G-action on X to the cross section Y, hence in particular a (set-theoretic) equivalence relation on Y. Moreover, a straightforward application of Lemma 3.1 yields:

Lemma 3.9. R_Y is a countable Borel equivalence relation on Y.

Proof. First note that if $y' \in Y$, then $y \in G.y$ if and only if $y \in Y_y.y'$. By Lemma 3.1(iii), $Y_{y'}$ is countable, whence the set $\{y \in Y : (y, y') \in R_Y\}$ is countable as well. To see why R_Y is a Borel set in $Y \times Y$, consider the Borel map $\widetilde{a} : G \times Y \to Y \times X$, $(g, y) \mapsto (y, g.y)$. Then $C = \widetilde{a}^{-1}(Y \times Y)$ is a Borel set in $G \times Y$ and $G \times Y = \widetilde{a}(C)$. It follows from Lemma 3.1(iv) that \widetilde{a} has countable fibers, so $G \times Y = \widetilde{a}(C)$ in $G \times Y = \widetilde{a}(C)$. It follows from Lemma 2.1(iii).

Our next goal is to study sets and measures which are invariant under the cross section equivalence relation. For this we need to describe the local structure of partial R_Y -maps. The following lemma is based on the proof of [1, Lemma 2.5].

Lemma 3.10. Let φ be a partial R_Y -map and let V be a symmetric identity neighborhood in G such that $V^4 \subset U$. Then there exist

- a Borel partition $dom(\varphi) = \bigsqcup_k A_k$ such that $\varphi|_{A_k}$ is injective for every k,
- identity neighborhoods $W_k \subset V$ and $\lambda_k \in \Lambda_a(Y)$ such that $\lambda_k^{-1} W_k \lambda_k \subset V$ for all k,
- Borel maps $\rho_k : A_k \to W_k$ such that

$$\varphi(y) = \rho_k(y)\lambda_k.y$$
, for all $y \in A_k$.

In particular, $a(C_k) = W_k \lambda_k A_k$, where

$$C_k = \{ (w \rho_k(y)^{-1}, \varphi(y)) : w \in W_k, y \in A_k \} \subset W_k^2 \times Y.$$

Proof. Set $A := \text{dom}(\varphi)$. For every $y \in A$, pick $\lambda_y \in \Lambda_a(Y)$ such that $\varphi(y) = \lambda_y \cdot y$, and a symmetric open identity neighborhood $W_y \subset V$ such that $\lambda_y^{-1} W_y \lambda_y \subset V$. Since G is second countable, and thus Lindelöf, we can find $y_1, y_2, \ldots \in A$ such that

$$W:=\bigcup_{y\in Y}W_y\lambda_y=\bigcup_kW_{y_k}\lambda_{y_k}.$$

Set $W_k := W_{y_k}$ and $\lambda_k := \lambda_{y_k}$. Let $A'_k := \{ y \in A : \varphi(y) \in W_k \lambda_k . y \}$, and note that

$$\bigcup_{k} A'_{k} = \{ y \in A : \varphi(y) \in W.y \} = A.$$

Define $A_1 := A_1'$ and $A_{k+1} = A_{k+1}' \setminus (\bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j)$, for all k. Then A_1, A_2, \ldots are disjoint Borel sets with union A (we can discard empty sets from this collection). Let us now construct the maps ρ_k . We define the Borel set

$$\widetilde{A}_k = \{(w, y) \in W_k \times A_k : \varphi(y) = w\lambda_k.y\},\$$

and note that the projection $(w, y) \mapsto y$ is injective. Indeed, if $(w_1, y), (w_2, y) \in \widetilde{A}_k$, then

$$\varphi(y) = w_1 \lambda_k . y = w_2 \lambda_k . y,$$

whence $\lambda_k^{-1} w_2^{-1} w_1 \lambda_k y = y$. We conclude that

$$\lambda_k^{-1} w_2^{-1} w_1 \lambda_k \in \lambda_k^{-1} W_k^2 \lambda_k \cap \Lambda_a(Y) \subset U \cap \Lambda_a(Y) = \{e\}.$$

Hence $w_1 = w_2$, and the projection is injective. By Lemma 2.1(ii), we can now find a Borel map $\rho_k : A_k \to W_k$ such that $(\rho_k(y), y) \in \widetilde{A}_k$ for all $y \in A_k$. In other words, $\varphi(y) = \rho_k(y)\lambda_k.y$. It remains to show that $\varphi|_{A_k}$ is injective. We argue by contradiction and suppose $y_1, y_2 \in A_k$ are such that $\varphi(y_1) = \varphi(y_2)$, or equivalently, $\rho_k(y_1)\lambda_k.y_1 = \rho_k(y_2)\lambda_k.y_2$. Then,

$$\lambda_k^{-1} \rho_k(y_2)^{-1} \rho_k(y_1) \lambda_k \in \Lambda_a(Y) \cap \lambda_k^{-1} W_k^2 \lambda_k = \{e\},$$

since $\lambda_k^{-1}W_k^2\lambda_k \subset V \subset U$ and Y is U-separated. Hence, $\rho_k(y_1) = \rho_k(y_2)$, which implies that the identity $\rho_k(y_1)\lambda_k.y_1 = \rho_k(y_2)\lambda_k.y_2$ just reduces to $y_1 = y_2$.

Corollary 3.11. Suppose $B \subset Y$ is an R_Y -invariant Borel set. Then,

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\varphi),$$

for every (not necessarily injective) partial R_Y -map φ .

Proof. Let φ be a (not necessarily injective) partial Borel R_Y -map. Then, by Lemma 3.10, we can find a Borel partition $\text{dom}(\varphi) = \bigsqcup_k A_k$ such that $\psi_k := \varphi|_{A_k}$ is an injective partial R_Y -map for every k. Hence,

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = \bigsqcup_{k} \varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) \cap A_{k} = \bigsqcup_{k} \psi_{k}^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\psi_{k})).$$

Since *B* is R_Y -invariant and ψ_k is injective, $\psi_k^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\psi_k)) = B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\psi_k)$ for all k, whence

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = \bigsqcup_{k} (B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\psi_{k})) = B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\varphi).$$

3.5 R_Y -invariant sets. Let G be a lcsc group and let (X, a, Y) be a U-transverse triple over G for some open identity neighborhood $U \subset G$. We are going to show that a subset $A \subset Y$ is invariant under the cross section equivalence relation R_Y if and only if there exists a G-invariant subset $B \subset X$ such that $A = B \cap Y$. One direction is in fact immediate from Lemma 3.10:

Corollary 3.12. *If* $B \subset X$ *is a G-invariant Borel set, then* $B \cap Y \subset Y$ *is an* R_Y -invariant Borel set.

Proof. Let φ be a partial Borel R_Y -map. By Lemma 3.10, there exist a Borel partition $dom(\varphi) = \bigsqcup_k A_k$, Borel maps $\rho_k : A_k \to G$ and $\lambda_k \in G$ such that

$$\varphi(y) = \rho_k(y)\lambda_k.y$$
, for all $y \in A_k$.

Hence,

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = \bigsqcup_{k} \varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) \cap A_{k}.$$

Since B is G-invariant and $ran(\varphi) \subset Y$, we see that

$$\varphi(y) = \rho_k(y)\lambda_k.y \in B \cap Y \iff y \in B \cap Y,$$

for every k and $y \in A_k$. In other words, $\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) \cap A_k = B \cap A_k$, for all k, and thus

$$\varphi^{-1}(B \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi)) = \bigsqcup_{k} B \cap A_{k} = B \cap \operatorname{dom}(\varphi).$$

Since φ is arbitrary, $B \cap Y$ is R_Y -invariant.

For the converse direction we fix a Borel *Y*-section $\beta: X \to G$. We then define a Borel map

(3)
$$\varphi_{\beta}: Y \to Y, \quad y \mapsto \beta(y).y.$$

By construction, φ_{β} is a (not necessarily injective) partial R_Y -map with dom(φ_{β})= Y. If $A \subset Y$ is a Borel set in Y, we now define $A_{\beta} \subset X$ by

$$(4) A_{\beta} := \{ x \in X : \beta(x) . x \in A \}.$$

Note that $A_{\beta} = b_{\beta}^{-1}(G \times A)$, and thus A_{β} is a Borel set in X. We can now establish the converse of Corollary 3.12:

Lemma 3.13. *Let* β *be a Borel Y-section. If* $A \subset Y$ *is an* R_Y -invariant Borel set, then $A_\beta \subset X$ is a G-invariant Borel set such that $A_\beta \cap Y = A$.

Proof. We first note that $A_{\beta} \cap Y = \varphi_{\beta}^{-1}(A \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi_{\beta}))$. Since A is R_{Y} -invariant and $\operatorname{dom}(\varphi_{\beta}) = Y$, Corollary 3.11 tells us that $\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}(A \cap \operatorname{ran}(\varphi_{\beta})) = A$, and thus $A_{\beta} \cap Y = A$. To prove that A_{β} is G-invariant, it is enough to show (since X = G.Y) that

$$g^{-1}.A_{\beta} \cap h.Y = h.A$$
, for all $g, h \in G$.

First note that

$$g^{-1}.A_{\beta} = \{x \in X : \beta(g.x)g.x \in A\}, \text{ for all } g \in G$$

and thus

$$g^{-1}.A_{\beta} \cap h.Y = h.\{y \in Y : \beta(gh.y)gh.y \in A\} = h.\varphi_{\beta_{gh}}^{-1}(A \cap \operatorname{ran} \varphi_{\beta_{gh}}),$$

for all $g, h \in G$. Since A is R_Y -invariant and $\varphi_{\beta_{gh}}$ is a partial R_Y -map with $dom(\varphi_{\beta_{gh}}) = Y$, we see from Corollary 3.11 that $\varphi_{\beta_{gh}}^{-1}(A \cap ran \varphi_{\beta_{gh}}) = A$, and thus $g^{-1}.A_{\beta} \cap h.Y = h.A$ for all $g, h \in G$.

In other words, the Y-section β picks for every R_Y -invariant Borel subset A a canonical G-invariant extension to X.

3.6 Lifts of R_Y **-invariant measures.** Let G be a lcsc group and let (X, a, Y) be a U-transverse triple over G for some open identity neighborhood $U \subset G$. The goal of this subsection is to establish the following theorem:

Theorem 3.14. Let $v \in M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_Y}$ be R_Y -invariant and let $\beta : X \to G$ be a Borel Y-section.

- (i) The lifted measure v_{β} is independent of the choice of β .
- (ii) v_{β} is \mathcal{Y}_{G} -finite.
- (iii) If G is unimodular, then v_{β} is G-invariant.

If G is unimodular we thus obtain a canonical map

$$^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{Y}^{X}:M(Y,\mathcal{Y})^{R_{Y}}\to M(X,\mathcal{Y}_{G})^{G},\quad v\mapsto v_{\beta}.$$

We refer to the map G ind X_Y from Theorem 3.14 as the **induction map** of the transverse triple (X, a, Y). Note that part (ii) of the theorem is immediate from part (i) in view of Lemma 3.7 and Corollary 3.8. The proofs of parts (i) and (iii) are based on the following main lemma concerning piecewise equivalences of injective sets. Here, given a Borel set $C \subset G \times Y$, we set

$$C_{v} = \{ h \in G : (h, y) \in C \}, \text{ for } y \in Y.$$

By Fubini's Theorem, C_y is a Borel set in G for every $y \in Y$.

Lemma 3.15. Let C_1 , $C_2 \subset G \times Y$ be injective Borel sets such that $a(C_1) = a(C_2)$. Then there exist

- a covering $\{Y^{(k)}\}\ of\ Y\ by\ Borel\ sets,\ Borel\ maps\ \gamma_k: Y^{(k)} \to G\ and\ \varphi_k \in [[R_Y]]$ with $\operatorname{dom}(\varphi_k) = Y^{(k)}$;
- Borel partitions $C_1 = \bigsqcup_k C_{1,k}$ and $C_2 = \bigsqcup_k C_{2,k}$ such that

$$C_{1,k} \subset G \times \operatorname{ran}(\varphi_k)$$
 and $C_{2,k} \subset G \times \operatorname{dom}(\varphi_k)$, for all k ,

such that

$$(C_{2,k})_{y_2} = (C_{1,k})_{\varphi_k(y_2)} \gamma_k(y_2), \quad \text{for all } y_2 \in Y^{(k)}.$$

Remark 3.16. In the proof of this lemma, we will use a Borel partition $G = \bigcup V_k$ with the property that $V_k^{-1}V_k \cup V_kV_k^{-1} \subset U$ for all k. Such partitions can be constructed in many different ways. Let us here briefly outline one possible construction. For every $g \in G$, let W_g be an open symmetric identity neighborhood W_g such that W_g^2 and $gW_g^2g^{-1}$ are both contained in U. Then $\bigcup_{g \in G} gW_g$ is an open cover of G. Since G is Lindelöf, there exist a countable set $\{g_k\}$ such that

$$G = \bigcup_{k} \widetilde{V}_{k}$$
, where $\widetilde{V}_{k} = g_{k}W_{g_{k}}$.

Note that $\widetilde{V}_k^{-1}\widetilde{V}_k \cup \widetilde{V}_k\widetilde{V}_k^{-1} \subset U$ for all k. To make this collection of sets disjoint, we set $V_1 := \widetilde{V}_1$ and define inductively $V_{k+1} := \widetilde{V}_{k+1} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^k V_j$, for $k \geq 1$ (discarding empty sets).

Proof of Lemma 3.15. We set $a_i := a|_{C_i}$ for i = 1, 2. By Lemma 2.1, a_i is a Borel isomorphism between the Borel sets C_i and $a(C_i)$. Since $a(C_1) = a(C_2)$, the composition $\delta := a_1^{-1} \circ a_2$ is a well-defined injective Borel map and $C_1 = \delta(C_2)$. It is not hard to see that there is a Borel map $\theta : C_2 \to G$ such that

$$\delta(h_2,y_2) = (h_2\theta(h_2,y_2)^{-1},\theta(h_2,y_2).y_2), \quad \text{for } (h_2,y_2) \in C_2.$$

Let $G = \bigcup_k V_k$ be a Borel partition (see Remark 3.16) such that

$$V_k^{-1}V_k \cup V_kV_k^{-1} \subset U$$
, for all k

and set

$$C_{2,k} = \theta^{-1}(V_k^{-1})$$
 and $C_{1,k} = \delta(C_{2,k})$.

Clearly, $C_1 = \bigsqcup_k C_{1,k}$ and $C_2 = \bigsqcup_k C_{2,k}$ are Borel partitions. Define

$$Y^{(k)} = \{ y \in Y : Y_v \cap V_k^{-1} \neq \emptyset \} = V_k \cdot Y \cap Y.$$

By Lemma 3.1(i), combined with Lemma 2.1(ii), we see that $Y^{(k)} \subset Y$ is a Borel set, and there is a Borel map $\gamma_k: Y^{(k)} \to V_k^{-1}$ such that $\gamma_k(y) \in Y_y \cap V_k^{-1}$ for all $y \in Y^{(k)}$. Pick $(h_2, y_2) \in C_{2,k}$. Then $\theta(h_2, y_2) \in Y_{y_2} \cap V_k^{-1}$, and thus $y_2 \in Y^{(k)}$. However, by Lemma 3.1(i), $|Y_{y_2} \cap V_k^{-1}| \le 1$, and thus

$$\theta(h_2, y_2) = \gamma_k(y_2), \text{ for all } (h_2, y_2) \in C_{2,k}.$$

We also define $\varphi_k(y_2) = \gamma_k(y_2).y_2$ for $y_2 \in Y^{(k)}$. Note that φ_k is injective. Indeed, if $\varphi_k(y_2) = \varphi_k(y_2')$, for $y_2, y_2' \in Y^{(k)}$, then

$$\gamma_k(y_2')^{-1}\gamma_k(y_2) \in Y_{y_2} \cap V_kV_k^{-1} \subset Y_{y_2} \cap U = \{e\},\$$

since Y is U-separated. Hence, $\gamma_k(y_2) = \gamma_k(y_2')$. Since $\varphi_k(y_2) = \varphi_k(y_2')$, we see that $y_2 = y_2'$. We conclude that $\varphi_k \in [[R_Y]]$ with $\operatorname{dom}(\varphi_k) = Y^{(k)}$. Furthermore, since $C_{1,k} = \delta(C_{2,k})$, we see that $C_{1,k} \subset G \times \operatorname{ran}(\varphi_k)$. Let us now fix an index k and an element $y_2 \in Y^{(k)}$ Then, since $C_{2,k} \subset G \times Y^{(k)}$, we see that

$$\begin{split} (C_{2,k})_{y_2} &= \{h_2 \in G : (h_2, y_2) \in C_{2,k}\} \\ &= \{h_2 \in G : (h_2\theta(h_2, y_2)^{-1}, \theta(h_2, y_2).y_2) \in C_{1,k}\} \\ &= \{h_2 \in G : (h_2\gamma_k(y_2)^{-1}, \varphi_k(y_2)) \in C_{1,k}\} = (C_{1,k})_{\varphi_k(y_2)} \gamma_k(y_2). \end{split}$$

Corollary 3.17. Let $v \in M_{\sigma}(Y)^{R_Y}$, and suppose that $C_1, C_2 \subset G \times Y$ are injective Borel sets such that $a(C_1) = a(C_2)$. Then $m_G \otimes v(C_1) = m_G \otimes v(C_2)$.

Proof. Let $Y^{(k)}$, $C_{1,k}$, $C_{2,k}$, γ_k , φ_k be as in Lemma 3.15. Then, for all $y_2 \in Y$,

$$\begin{split} m_G((C_2)_{y_2}) &= \sum_k m_G((C_{2,k})_{y_2}) \chi_{\text{dom}(\varphi_k)}(y_2) = \sum_k m_G((C_{1,k})_{\varphi_k(y_2)} \gamma_k(y_2)) \; \chi_{\text{dom}(\varphi_k)}(y_2) \\ &= \sum_k m_G((C_{1,k})_{\varphi_k(y_2)}) \; \chi_{\text{dom}(\varphi_k)}(y_2), \end{split}$$

where we in the last identity have used that m_G is right-invariant. Define

$$f_k: Y \to [0, \infty]$$

by

$$f_k(y) = m_G((C_{1,k})_y), \text{ for } y \in Y.$$

By Fubini's Theorem, f_k is Borel. Since $\varphi_k \in [[R_Y]]$ and ν is a σ -finite and R_Y -invariant Borel measure on Y, Lemma 2.3 tells us that

$$\int_{\mathrm{dom}(\varphi_k)} f_k \circ \varphi_k \, d\nu = \int_{\mathrm{ran}(\varphi_k)} f_k \, d\nu,$$

and thus

$$m_{G} \otimes \nu(C_{2}) = \int_{Y} m_{G}((C_{2})_{y_{2}}) d\nu(y_{2}) = \sum_{k} \int_{\text{dom}(\varphi_{k})} m_{G}((C_{1,k})_{\varphi_{k}(y_{2})}) d\nu(y_{2})$$

$$= \sum_{k} \int_{\text{ran}(\varphi_{k})} m_{G}((C_{1,k})_{y_{2}}) d\nu(y_{2}) = \sum_{k} \int_{Y} m_{G}((C_{1,k})_{y_{2}}) d\nu(y_{2})$$

$$= m_{G} \otimes \nu(C_{1}),$$

since $C_1 = \bigsqcup_k C_{1,k}$ and $C_2 = \bigsqcup_k C_{2,k}$ are Borel partitions.

Proof of Theorem 3.14. (i) If β and β' are two *Y*-sections, then b_{β} and b'_{β} are two sections of $a|_{G\times Y}$, and hence for every Borel set $B\subset X$ the sets $C:=b_{\beta}(B)$ and $C':=b_{\beta'}(B)$ are injective Borel sets. We now deduce with Corollary 3.17 that

$$v_{\beta}(B) = v(b_{\beta}(B)) = v(C) = v(C') = v(b_{\beta'}(B)) = v_{\beta'}(B).$$

- (ii) Let $\mathcal{Y} = (Y_n)$ and let (K_n) be a fundamental exhaustion of G. By (i) and Lemma 3.7 we may assume that $b_{\beta}(K_n,Y_n) \subset K_n \times Y_n$ for all n, but then $\nu_{\beta} \in M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{S})$ holds by Corollary 3.8.
- (iii) If $\beta: X \to G$ is a Borel *Y*-section and $g \in G$, then we define $\beta_g(x) := \beta(g.x)g$. Note that $\beta_g(x).x = \beta(g.x)g.x \in Y$, whence β_g is again a Borel *Y*-section. For every fixed $g \in G$ we then have

$$b_{\beta}(g.x) = (g\beta_g(x)^{-1}, \beta_g(x).x), \text{ for all } x \in X.$$

Since m_G is left-invariant, we see that for every Borel set $B \subset X$,

$$v_{\beta}(g.B) = m_G \otimes v(b_{\beta_g}(B)).$$

Fix a Borel set B in X, and let $C := b_{\beta}(B)$ and $C_g := b_{\beta_g}(B)$. Then C and C_g are injective Borel sets in $G \times Y$ such that $a(C) = a(C_g)$. Since m_G is also right-invariant, Corollary 3.17 tells us that $m_G \otimes \nu(C_g) = m_G \otimes \nu(C)$, and thus

$$\nu_{\beta}(g.B) = m_G \otimes \nu(b_{\beta_g}(B)) = m_G \otimes \nu(b_{\beta}(B)) = \nu_{\beta}(B).$$

Since g is arbitrary, $\nu_{\beta} \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})^G$.

4 Transverse measure theory

The main goal of this section is to establish Theorem 1.14 from the introduction. Moreover we discuss ergodic decompositions of transverse measures and the behavior of transverse measure under a change of transversal. Throughout this section, G denotes a lcsc group with Haar measure m_G and (X, a, Y) is a U-transverse

triple over G for some open identity neighborhood $U \subset G$. We fix a fundamental exhaustion $\mathcal{G} = \{K_n\}$ of G by compact sets, and let a Borel exhaustion $\mathcal{G} = \{Y_n\}$ be of Y and denote by \mathcal{G} the G-suspension of G.

4.1 Periodizations. Given a non-negative bounded Borel function f on $G \times Y$, we define $Tf : X \to [0, \infty]$ by

(5)
$$Tf(x) = \sum_{g \in Y_x} f(g^{-1}, g.x), \text{ for } x \in X.$$

We refer to Tf as the Y-periodization of f.

Example 4.1. Let $P_o \subset G$ be a uniformly discrete subset and $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ and \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} as in Example 3.1 so that by Proposition 3.2 the triple (X, a, Y) is a transverse triple. Then the \mathfrak{T}_{P_o} -periodization of a non-negative bounded Borel function f on $G \times \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}$ is given by

$$Tf(P) = \sum_{p \in P} f(p^{-1}, Pp^{-1}).$$

In general, periodizations have the following basic properties:

Lemma 4.1. Let f be a bounded non-negative Borel function on $G \times Y$.

- (i) *Tf is Borel*.
- (ii) $T\chi_C = \chi_{a(C)}$ for every injective Borel set $C \subset G \times Y$.
- (iii) $Tf(g.x) = Tf_g(x)$, for all $g \in G$ and $x \in X$, where $f_g(h, y) = f(gh, x)$.
- (iv) Suppose $f = \sum_k f_k$ pointwise, where f_1, f_2, \dots are bounded non-negative Borel functions on $G \times Y$. Then $Tf = \sum_k Tf_k$ pointwise.
- (v) If $\{f > 0\} \subset K_n \times Y_n$ for some n, then

$$Tf(x) \leq M_{K_n^{-1}} \|f\|_{\infty} \chi_{K_n, Y_n}(x) \quad \text{for all } x \in X,$$

where $M_{K_{n}^{-1}}$ is given by (1).

Proof. (i) Let $G = \bigsqcup_k V_k$ be a Borel partition such that $V_k^{-1}V_k \subset U$ for all k. Then, by Lemma 3.1(i), $a|_{V_k \times Y}$ is injective, so by Lemma 2.1(ii), there is a Borel right-inverse $b_k : V_k Y \to V_k \times Y$, which then must be of the form $b_k(x) = (\rho_k(x)^{-1}, \rho_k(x).x)$ for some Borel map $\rho_k : V_k Y \to V_k^{-1}$. Note that $g \in Y_k \cap V_k^{-1}$ if and only if $g = \rho_k(x)$. Thus

$$Tf(x) = \sum_{k} \sum_{g \in Y_r \cap V_r^{-1}} f(g^{-1}, g.x) \chi_{X_k}(x) = \sum_{k} F_k(x),$$

where $F_k(x) = f(\rho_k(x)^{-1}, \rho_k(x).x)$. Since each F_k is Borel, so is Tf.

(ii) Suppose $C \subset G \times Y$ is an injective Borel set. Note that $x \in a(C)$ if and only if there is a unique $g \in G$ such that $(g^{-1}, g.x) \in C$ (in particular, $g \in Y_x$). Hence,

$$T\chi_C(x) = \sum_{g \in Y_x} \chi_C(g^{-1}, g.x) = \chi_{a(C)}(x), \quad \text{for all } x \in X.$$

(iii) Fix $g \in G$, and note that

$$Tf(g.x) = \sum_{h \in Y_{g.x}} f(h^{-1}, hg.x) = \sum_{h \in Y_x} f(gh^{-1}, h.x), \text{ for all } x \in X,$$

since $Y_{g,x} = Y_x g^{-1}$.

- (iv) This readily follows from monotone convergence.
- (v) Suppose Tf(x) > 0. Since $\{f > 0\} \subset K_n \times Y_n$, there must be an element $g \in K_n^{-1}$ such that $g.x \in Y_n$, whence $x \in K_n.Y_n$. In particular,

$$Tf(x) \le |Y_x \cap K_n^{-1}| ||f||_{\infty} \chi_{K_n, Y_n}(x), \quad \text{for all } x \in X.$$

By Lemma 3.1(ii), there is a finite constant $M_{K_n^{-1}}$ such that $|Y_x \cap K_n^{-1}| \le M_{K_n^{-1}}$ for all $x \in X$.

Remark 4.2 (On the existence of Haar measures). Let us briefly sketch how Y-periodizations can be used to construct a Haar measure on G, following the ideas of Izzo [10, 11]. Suppose (X, a) is a Borel G-space, μ is a G-invariant Borel probability measure on X, and Y is a U-separated cross section for some identity neighborhood U in G (if the G-action G is free, then one can always produce such a cross section in G by [7, Proposition 2.10]; furthermore, this construction does not use the existence of a Haar measure on G). We now define

$$m(\varphi) = \mu(T(\varphi \otimes 1)), \text{ for } \varphi \in C_c(G).$$

The proof of Lemma 4.1 above now shows that m is a left G-invariant locally finite Borel measure on G. In particular, the existence of a single free probability-measure-preserving G-action implies the existence of a (left-invariant) Haar measure on G.

4.2 Existence of transverse measures.

Proposition 4.3. For every $\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{S}})^G$, there is a unique $v \in M(Y; \mathcal{Y})$ such that

(6)
$$\mu(Tf) = (m_G \otimes \nu)(f),$$

for every bounded non-negative Borel function f on $G \times Y$. In particular,

$$\mu(a(C)) = m_G \otimes \nu(C)$$

for every injective Borel set $C \subset G \times Y$.

Remark 4.4. We refer to ν as the *Y*-transverse measure of μ . If we want to emphasize its dependence on μ , we use the notation $\nu = \mu_Y$. We stress that we are not assuming in this lemma that G is unimodular. We can spell out (6) in the case where f is a function which depends only on one of the two variables: If f_1 and f_2 are bounded non-negative Borel functions on G and G respectively, then

$$\int_{G} f_{1}(g) \, dm_{G}(g) = \int_{X} \sum_{g \in Y_{x}} f_{1}(g^{-1}) \, d\mu(x)$$

and

$$\int_Y f_2(y)\,d\nu(y) = \int_X \sum_{g\in Y_x} f_2(g.x)\,d\mu(x).$$

Note that if μ is a finite Borel measure, then ν is a finite Borel measure on Y. The converse is not true.

Proof of Proposition 4.3. Fix $\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_S)^G$, and define

$$\eta(D) := \mu(T\chi_D)$$
, for Borel sets $D \subset G \times Y$.

By Lemma 4.1(i) and (iv), η is a Borel measure on $G \times Y$. Furthermore, Lemma 4.1(v) implies that $\eta(K_n \times Y_n) < \infty$ for all n, so in particular, η is σ -finite. By a standard approximation argument (see e.g. [5, Theorem 3.3.1]), it suffices to show that there is a unique $\nu \in M(Y; \mathcal{Y})$ such that

$$\eta(A \times B) = m_G(A) \nu(B)$$
, for all $A \in \mathcal{B}_G$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}_Y$.

To do this, fix n and a Borel set $B \subset Y_n$. We define the Borel measure η_B on G by

$$\eta_B(A) = \eta(A \times B), \quad \text{for } A \in \mathcal{B}_G.$$

Since μ is $y_{\mathfrak{S}}$ -finite, $\eta_B(K_n) \leq M_{K_n^{-1}}\mu(K_n,Y_n) < \infty$ for every n by Lemma 4.1(v), and thus η_B is locally finite. By Lemma 4.1(iii), we see that

$$\eta_B(g^{-1}A) = \mu(T\chi_{A\times B}(g.\cdot)) = \eta_B(A), \text{ for all } g \in G,$$

since μ is G-invariant. Hence η_B is a locally finite and left-invariant Radon measure on G, and thus a (non-negative) multiple of m_G . We conclude that there is a non-negative (finite) number $\nu_n(B)$ such that

$$\eta(A \times B) = m_G(A) \nu_n(B)$$
, for all $A \in \mathcal{B}_G$.

Since η is a Borel measure, it follows that ν_n is a (finite) Borel measure on Y_n . Furthermore, if $m \leq n$, then $\nu_m(B) = \nu_n(B)$ for every Borel set $B \subset Y_m$. We conclude that the limit

$$\nu(B) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \nu_n(B \cap Y_n)$$

exists for every Borel set $B \subset Y$. It readily follows from monotone convergence that ν is a Borel measure on Y such that $\nu(B) = \nu_n(B)$ for every Borel set $B \subset Y_n$. In particular, ν is \mathcal{Y} -finite. Since η is a Borel measure, we now have

$$\eta(A \times B) = \lim_{n} \eta(A \times (B \cap Y_n)) = \lim_{n} m_G(A) \nu_n(B \cap Y_n) = m_G(A) \nu(B),$$

for all Borel sets $A \subset G$ and $B \subset Y$.

4.3 Proofs of Theorem 1.14 and Corollary 1.15. We now turn to the proof of Theorem 1.14. We split the proof into a series of lemmas. For the first two of these, unimodularity of G is not needed.

Lemma 4.5. The map $M(X; \mathcal{Y}_G)^G \to M(Y; \mathcal{Y})$, $\mu \mapsto \mu_Y$ is injective. In particular, if μ is non-zero, then so is μ_Y .

Proof. Suppose $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in M_{\forall}(X)^G$ with $(\mu_1)_Y = (\mu_2)_Y$. Then,

$$\mu_1(a(C)) = m_G \otimes (\mu_1)_Y(C) = m_G \otimes (\mu_2)_Y(C) = \mu_2(a(C))$$

for every injective Borel set $C \subset G \times Y$. Fix a Borel set $B \subset X$. By Lemma 3.1(v), there are injective Borel sets $\widetilde{B}_1, \widetilde{B}_2, \ldots$ in $G \times Y$ such that $B = \bigsqcup_k a(\widetilde{B}_k)$. Since $\mu_1(a(\widetilde{B}_k)) = \mu_2(a(\widetilde{B}_k))$ for all k, we see that

$$\mu_1(B) = \sum_k \mu_1(a(\widetilde{B}_k)) = \sum_k \mu_2(a(\widetilde{B}_k)) = \mu_2(B).$$

Since *B* is an arbitrary Borel set in *X*, we conclude that $\mu_1 = \mu_2$.

Lemma 4.6. Let $\mu \in M(X; \mathfrak{X})^G$ and let B be a G-invariant Borel set in X. Then,

$$\mu(B) = 0 \iff \mu_Y(B \cap Y) = 0.$$

Proof. Let $V \subset G$ be an identity neighborhood such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$. Then $V \times Y$ is an injective Borel set by Lemma 3.1(i). Since B is G-invariant, $V(B \cap Y) = B \cap V(Y)$, and thus

$$m_G(V)\mu_Y(B\cap Y) = \mu(V.(B\cap Y)) = \mu(B\cap V.Y).$$

Since $0 < m_G(V) < \infty$, we see that $\mu_Y(B \cap Y) = 0 \iff \mu(B \cap V,Y) = 0$. In particular, if $\mu(B) = 0$, then $\mu_Y(B \cap Y) = 0$. Conversely, if $\mu_Y(B \cap Y) = 0$, then $\mu(B \cap V,Y) = 0$, so if we let $\Xi \subset G$ be a countable set such that $\Xi V = G$, then, since μ and B are G-invariant, $\mu(B \cap \xi V,Y) = 0$ for all $\xi \in \Xi$. Hence, by σ -additivity of μ , we see that $0 = \mu(B \cap \Xi V,Y) = \mu(B \cap G,Y) = \mu(B)$.

Lemma 4.7. If G is unimodular and $\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{S}})^G$, then $\mu_Y \in M(Y; \mathcal{Y})^{R_Y}$ is R_Y -invariant.

Proof. Let $\varphi \in [[E]]$, and let $V, A_k, W_k, \rho_k, \lambda_k$ and C_k be as in Lemma 3.10. Since φ is injective and the sets A_k are disjoint, we have

$$\mu_Y(\varphi(A)) = \sum_k \mu_Y(\varphi(A_k)),$$

so it suffices to show that $\mu_Y(\varphi(A_k)) = \mu_Y(A_k)$ for every k. We recall from Lemma 3.10 that

$$C_k := \{ (w \rho_k(y)^{-1}, \varphi(y)) : w \in W_k, y \in A_k \} \subset G \times Y$$

is an injective set such that $a(C_k) = W_k \lambda_k A_k$. Let $\widetilde{\rho}_k := \rho \circ \varphi^{-1}|_{\varphi(A_k)}$, and note that

$$\chi_{C_k}(g, z) = \chi_{W_k}(g\widetilde{\rho}_k(z))\chi_{\varphi(A_k)}(z), \quad \text{for all } (g, z) \in G \times Y.$$

Since m_G is right-invariant, Fubini's Theorem tells us that

$$m_G \otimes \mu_Y(C_k) = m_G(W_k)\mu_Y(\varphi(A_k)).$$

Since C_k is injective, we also have $(m_G \otimes \mu_Y)(C_k) = \mu(a(C_k))$. Moreover,

$$\mu(a(C_k)) = \mu(W_k \lambda_k A_k) = \mu(\lambda_k^{-1} W_k \lambda_k A_k)$$
$$= m_G(\lambda_k^{-1} W_k \lambda_k) \mu_Y(A_k) = m_G(W_k) \mu(A_k),$$

where in the second identity we have used that μ is G-invariant, in the third inequality we have used that $\lambda_k^{-1}W_k^2\lambda_k\subset U$, and in the last identity we have used that m_G is conjugation-invariant. Hence

$$m_G(W_k)\mu_Y(\varphi(A_k)) = m_G \otimes \mu_Y(C_k) = \mu(a(C_k)) = m_G(W_k)\mu(A_k),$$

and thus $\mu_Y(\varphi(A_k)) = \mu_Y(A_k)$.

Thus, if we assume that G is unimodular, then we have an injective restriction map

$$^{G}\mathrm{res}_{Y}^{X}:M(X;\mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{S}})^{G}\rightarrow M(Y;\mathcal{Y})^{R_{Y}},\quad \mu\mapsto\mu_{Y}.$$

It turns out that this map is actually a bijection:

Lemma 4.8. If G is unimodular, then the map ${}^{G}\operatorname{res}_{Y}^{X}: M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{S}})^{G} \to M(Y; \mathcal{Y})^{R_{Y}}$, $\mu \mapsto \mu_{Y}$ is bijective and inverse to the map ${}^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{Y}^{X}: M(Y; \mathcal{Y})^{R_{Y}} \to M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{S}})^{G}$ from Theorem 3.14.

Proof. We fix a Borel Y-section β as in Lemma 3.7; then

$$^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{Y}^{X}(v) = v_{\beta} \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})^{G}$$

for all $\nu \in M(Y; \mathcal{Y})^{R_Y}$ by Theorem 3.14. Since ${}^G\mathrm{res}_Y^X$ is injective, it now suffices to show that

(7)
$$(\nu_{\beta})_{Y} = \nu \quad \text{for all } \nu \in M(Y; \mathcal{Y})^{R_{Y}};$$

this will prove that ${}^G \operatorname{res}_Y^X$ is surjective (hence bijective) and hence that its left-inverse ${}^G \operatorname{ind}_Y^X$ is actually its inverse.

To prove (7) we fix a Borel set $B \subset Y$. Let V be an identity neighborhood in G such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$. Then

$$C_1 = b_{\beta}(V.B)$$
 and $C_2 = V \times B$,

where b_{β} is defined in (2), are both injective Borel sets in $G \times Y$ and we have

$$a(C_1) = V.B = a(C_2).$$

Since ν is R_Y -invariant, it follows from Corollary 3.17 that $m_G \otimes \nu(C_1) = m_G \otimes \nu(C_2)$, and thus

$$\nu_{\beta}(V.B) = m_G \otimes \nu(C_1) = m_G(V)\nu(B).$$

In particular, $(\nu_{\beta})_Y(B) = \nu(B)$. Since *B* is an arbitrary Borel set in *Y*, we see that $(\nu_{\beta})_Y = \nu$.

At this point we have established the measure correspondence promised in the introduction:

Proof of Theorem 1.14. The maps ${}^G\text{res}_Y^X$ from Lemma 4.8 and ${}^G\text{ind}_Y^X$ from Theorem 3.14 are mutually inverse by Lemma 4.8. It remains to show that if μ and ν are as in the theorem, then (i)–(iv) hold. Property (ii) is actually our definition of ν and (i) follows from (ii) (see Proposition 4.3 and Remark 4.4). Moreover, (iv) was established in Lemma 4.6. If C is injective, then by Lemma 4.1(ii) we have $T\chi_C = \chi_{a(C)}$ and hence

$$\mu(a(C)) = \mu(\chi_{a(C)}) = \mu(T\chi_C) = (m_G \otimes \nu)(\chi_C) = (m_G \otimes \nu)(C).$$

This establishes (iii) and finishes the proof.

Proof of Corollary 1.15. Since Y is closed in X, it is locally compact, hence we can find an exhaustion $\mathcal{Y} = \{Y_n\}$ of Y by compact sets with non-empty interior. Then the Radon measures on Y are precisely the measures in $M(Y, \mathcal{Y})$. If $\mathcal{G} = \{K_n\}$, then the sets $X_n := K_n Y_n$ are compact and exhaust X. Since X is Baire, it follows that almost all X_n contain an interior point, but this in turn implies that the measures in $M(X, \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})$ are precisely the Radon measure on X. The corollary then follows from Theorem 1.14.

4.4 Ergodic decomposition of *Y***-transverse measures.** In this subsection we assume that *G* is unimodular so that by Lemma 4.7 the transverse measure μ_Y is R_Y -invariant for every *G*-invariant measure $\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_S)^G$. We first observe that the restriction map preserves ergodicity in the following sense:

Lemma 4.9. Suppose
$$\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{G}})^G$$
. Then

$$\mu$$
 is G-ergodic $\iff \mu_Y$ is R_Y -ergodic.

Proof. Suppose μ is G-ergodic, and let $A \subset Y$ be an R_Y -invariant subset such that $\mu_Y(A) > 0$. We want to show that $\mu_Y(A^c) = 0$. Let us fix a Borel Y-section $\beta: X \to G$ and define

$$A_{\beta} = \{ x \in X : \beta(x) . x \in A \}.$$

By Lemma 3.13, $A_{\beta} \subset X$ is a G-invariant Borel set such that $A_{\beta} \cap Y = A$. Since $\mu_Y(A) > 0$, it follows from Lemma 4.6 that $\mu(A_{\beta}) > 0$. Since μ is ergodic, we have $\mu(A_{\beta}^c) = 0$. Using Lemma 4.6 again, and the identity $(A_{\beta})^c = (A^c)_{\beta}$, we see that

$$\mu_Y(A^c_\beta\cap Y)=\mu_Y(A^c)=0.$$

To prove the converse, assume that μ_Y is R_Y -ergodic, and let $B \subset X$ be a G-invariant Borel set such that $\mu(B) > 0$. We want to show that $\mu(B^c) = 0$. By Corollary 3.12, $B \cap Y$ is an R_Y -invariant Borel set in Y, and by Lemma 4.6, we have $\mu_Y(B \cap Y) > 0$. Since μ_Y is R_Y -ergodic, $\mu_Y(B^c \cap Y) = 0$, and thus $\mu(B^c) = 0$ by Lemma 4.6. \square

This allows us to carry over the ergodic decomposition of invariant measures in $M(X; \mathcal{Y}_{\mathfrak{I}})$ to transverse measures. We will use the following version of the ergodic decomposition theorem which is contained in [9, Theorem 1.1].

Theorem 4.10. For every $\mu \in \text{Prob}(X)^G$, there is a unique probability measure σ on Prob(X), which is supported on the set of G-ergodic Borel probability measures on X, such that

$$\mu(F) = \int_{\text{Prob}(X)^G} \eta(F) \, d\sigma(\eta),$$

for every bounded real-valued Borel function F on X.

If we now consider F of the form $T(\rho \otimes f)$, where T is defined as in (5), ρ is a compactly supported continuous function with $m_G(\rho) = 1$ and f is a bounded Borel function on Y, then Proposition 4.3 and Lemma 4.9 give the following corollary.

Corollary 4.11. For every $\mu \in \text{Prob}(X)^G$, there is a unique probability measure σ on Prob(X), which is supported on the set of G-ergodic Borel probability measures on Y, such that

$$\mu_Y(f) = \int_{\operatorname{Prob}(X)^G} \eta_Y(f) \, d\sigma(\eta),$$

for every bounded real-valued Borel function f on Y.

4.5 Change of cross section. We continue to assume that G is unimodular. We observe that since $Y \subset X$ is a U-separated cross section, the translate g.Y is a U^g-separated cross section. The corresponding transverse measures with respect to Y and g.Y are related as follows:

Lemma 4.12. Let $\mu \in M_{fin}(X)^G$. Then, for every $g \in G$, we have $g_*\mu_Y = \mu_{g,Y}$.

Remark 4.13. The lemma, with virtually the same proof, also holds for $y_{\mathcal{G}}$ -finite Borel measures, for a Borel exhaustion y of Y and a fundamental exhaustion g of G by compact sets.

Proof. Fix $g \in G$ and let V be an identity neighborhood in G such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$. Suppose $B \subset g.Y$ is a Borel set. Then, $g^{-1}.B$ is a Borel set in Y, and

$$g_*\mu_Y(B) = \mu_Y(g^{-1}.B) = \frac{\mu(Vg^{-1}.B)}{m_G(V)}.$$

Since μ is G-invariant and $V^g(V^g)^{-1} \subset U^g$ and g.Y is U^g -separated, we see that

$$\frac{\mu(Vg^{-1}.B)}{m_G(V)} = \frac{\mu(gVg^{-1}.B)}{m_G(V)} = \frac{m_G(gVg^{-1})}{m_G(V)} \,\mu_{g.Y}(B).$$

Since G is unimodular and $B \subset g.Y$ is arbitrary, we conclude that $g_*\mu_Y = \mu_{g.Y}$. \square

5 Transversal recurrence

In this section we establish a transverse recurrence theorem which corresponds to the case r = 1 of Theorem 1.10 from the introduction. The versions for r > 1 will later be established by applying this theorem to a suitable intersection space.

5.1 A transverse version of Poincaré's Recurrence Theorem. Let G be a non-compact less group with left Haar measure m_G . Let X be a Polish space, and denote by \mathcal{B}_X the σ -algebra on X generated by the open sets. Let $a: G \times X \to X$ be a Borel measurable action, and suppose $Y \subset X$ is a U-separated cross section for some identity neighborhood U in G. The aim of this section is to prove the following transversal version of Poincaré's classical recurrence theorem.

Theorem 5.1. For every $\mu \in M_{fin}(X)^G$, there is a μ_Y -conull Borel set $Y' \subset Y$ such that for every $y \in Y'$, there is a sequence $(g_n) \in Y_y$ such that $g_n.y \to y$ and $g_n \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$.

In other words, for a generic point in the transversal (with respect to the transverse measure) we can find an infinite number of return times to an arbitrary small neighborhood in Y (rather than in X). The assumption that X is Polish is used in the proof to construct an exhaustion of X by compact sets and to guarantee that X is second countable.

5.2 Proof of Theorem 5.1. We will prove Theorem 5.1 by reducing it to the non-transversal version of Poincaré's recurrence theorem. Throughout we fix $\mu \in M_{\text{fin}}(X)^G$. A subset $\Xi \subset G \setminus \{e\}$ is **Poincaré** (with respect to the triple (X, a, μ)) if for every Borel set $A \subset X$ with positive μ -measure, there exists $\xi \in \Xi$ such that $\mu(A \cap \xi^{-1}A) > 0$. We can then state Poincaré's recurrence theorem as follows:

Lemma 5.2 (Poincaré's Recurrence Theorem). Let $\Theta \subset G$ be an infinite set. Then $\Xi := \Theta \Theta^{-1} \setminus \{e\}$ is a Poincaré set.

Proof. Assume, for the sake of contradiction, that there exists a Borel set $A \subset X$ with positive μ -measure such that

$$\mu(A \cap \theta_i \theta_j^{-1}.A) = \mu(\theta_i^{-1}.A \cap \theta_j^{-1}.A) = 0$$
, for all $i \neq j$,

where $\theta_1, \theta_2, \ldots$ is an infinite sequence of distinct elements in Θ . Then the sets $\theta_1^{-1}.A, \theta_2^{-1}.A, \ldots$ are disjoint modulo μ -null sets, and thus

$$\infty = \sum_i \mu(A) = \sum_i \mu(\theta_i^{-1}.A) = \mu\left(\bigcup_i \theta_i^{-1}.A\right) \leq 1.$$

Corollary 5.3. For every compact set K in G, there is a countable Poincaré set Ξ such that $\Xi \cap K = \emptyset$.

Proof. Fix a compact set K in G. Since G is non-compact, there is an infinite sequence $\Theta = (\theta_i)$ in G such that $\theta_i^{-1}K \cap \theta_i^{-1}K = \emptyset$ for all distinct $\theta_i, \theta_j \in \Theta$. By

the previous lemma, $\Xi = \Theta \Theta^{-1} \setminus \{e\}$ is a (countable) Poincaré set, and clearly $\Xi \cap K = \emptyset$.

The proof of Theorem 5.1 will be based on two lemmas. If Ξ is a countable Poincaré set in G, and $A \subset X$ is a Borel set, we denote by

$$A_{\Xi} := \{ x \in A : \xi . x \in A, \text{ for some } \xi \in \Xi \}$$

the set of all points in A whose return time sets to A contains Ξ . Since

$$A_{\Xi} = \bigcup_{\xi \in \Xi} A \cap \xi^{-1}.A,$$

and Ξ is countable, we see that A_{Ξ} is a Borel set in X.

Lemma 5.4. If $A \subset X$ is a Borel set with $\mu(A) > 0$, then A_{Ξ} is a μ -conull Borel subset of A.

Proof. Set $B := A \setminus A_{\Xi}$, and assume, for the sake of contradiction, that $\mu(B) > 0$. Since Ξ is a Poincaré set, this implies that there exists $\xi \in \Xi$ such that $\mu(B \cap \xi^{-1}B) > 0$. In particular, $B \cap \xi^{-1}.B$ is non-empty, which contradicts the fact that $B \subset A$ and $B \cap A_{\Xi} = \emptyset$.

For the second lemma we consider a Borel set $V \subset G$ such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$. By Lemma 3.1(i), the composition

(8)
$$\operatorname{pr}_{V}: V.Y \to V \times Y \to Y, \quad v.y \mapsto (v,y) \mapsto y$$

is well defined and Borel.

Lemma 5.5. Let $X' \subset X$ be a μ -conull Borel set. Then $\operatorname{pr}_Y(X' \cap V.Y)$ contains a μ_Y -conull Borel set.

Proof. Since both a and pr_Y are Borel, [12, Proposition 14.4] tells us that $Y' := \operatorname{pr}_Y(X' \cap V.Y)$ and V.Y' are analytic sets in Y and X respectively. Hence, by [12, Theorem 21.10], Y' and V.Y' are measurable with respect to the μ_Y -completion of \mathscr{B}_Y and the μ -completion of \mathscr{B}_X respectively (we abuse notation and denote by μ_Y and μ the unique extensions of μ_Y and μ to the respective completions). Note that $V.Y' \supset X' \cap V.Y$. Since X' is μ -conull we have

$$\mu(X'\cap V.Y)=\mu(V.Y)=m_G(V)\mu_Y(Y),$$

and thus

$$\mu_Y(Y') = \frac{\mu(V.Y')}{m_G(V)} \ge \frac{\mu(X' \cap V.Y)}{m_G(V)} = \mu_Y(Y).$$

Since Y' is measurable with respect to the μ_Y -completion of \mathscr{B}_Y , we can find a Borel set $Y'' \subset Y'$ which is still μ_Y -conull.

The proof still applies if μ is merely assumed to be σ -finite, but we will not need this fact here.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. We fix an identity neighborhood V in G such that $V^{-1}V \subset U$, and an exhaustion $\{K_n : n \ge 1\}$ of G by compact sets. By Corollary 5.3, there exists a sequence (Ξ_n) of countable Poincaré sets in G such that $\Xi_n \cap K_n = \emptyset$ for all n. Since X is Polish, it is second countable. Fix a countable basis for the topology on X and denote by $\mathfrak{B} := \{B\}$ the collection of (non-empty) intersections of the basis elements with $\text{supp}(\mu_Y) \subset Y$. Define

$$\widetilde{B} := V.B \subset X$$
, for $B \in \mathfrak{B}$.

Since $\mu_Y(B) > 0$, we have $\mu(\widetilde{B}) > 0$, for every $B \in \mathfrak{B}$. Define

$$N_{B,n} := \widetilde{B} \setminus \widetilde{B}_{\Xi_n}$$
 and $X' := \bigcup_{B \in \mathfrak{B}} \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X \setminus N_{B,n}$.

By Lemma 5.4 we have $\mu(N_{B,n}) = 0$ for all $B \in \mathfrak{B}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since \mathfrak{B} is countable, X' is thus a μ -conull Borel set. By Lemma 5.5 the set $\operatorname{pr}_Y(X' \cap V.Y)$ contains a μ_Y -conull Borel subset

$$Y' \subset \operatorname{pr}_{Y}(X' \cap V.Y) \subset Y.$$

We claim that Y' satisfies the conclusions of Theorem 5.1. To see this, pick

$$y \in Y'$$
, $v \in V$ and $x = v.y \in X' \cap V.Y$,

and a sequence (B_n) in \mathfrak{B} such that $\{y\} = \bigcap_n B_n$.

Since $x \in X' \cap V.B_n$ for every n, and thus $x \in (V.B_n)_{\Xi_n}$, we can find $\xi_n \in \Xi_n$ such that $\xi_n.x \in V.B_n$. Hence there exist $v_n \in V$ and $y_n \in B_n$ such that

$$\xi_n v. y = v_n. y_n$$

and thus $g_n := v_n^{-1} \xi_n v \in Y_y \cap V \xi_n V$ and $g_n.y = y_n \in B_n$. Since $\xi_n \notin K_n$ for all n, we see that $g_n \to \infty$, and since $\{y\} = \bigcap_n B_n$, we see that $y_n \to y$.

6 Ergodic theorems for cross sections

In this section we establish a pointwise transversal ergodic theorem along certain averaging sequences which we call convenient sequences. As an application we deduce that generic points in the transversal have positive lower density along such sequences. This establishes Theorem 1.11 from the introduction in the case r = 1. The versions for r > 1 will later be obtained by applying this version to a suitable intersection space. Throughout this section, G denotes a unimodular lcsc group with bi-invariant Haar measure m_G and (X, a, Y) is a U-transverse triple over G for some open identity neighborhood $U \subset G$.

6.1 Convenient sequences. If V is an open identity neighborhood and $B \subset G$ is a pre-compact Borel set, then we set

$$B_V^- := \bigcap_{v \in V} v^{-1} B$$
 and $B_V^+ := \bigcup_{v \in V} v^{-1} B$.

Definition 6.1. Let (V_n) be a decreasing sequence of open identity neighborhoods in G. We say that a sequence (G_t) of pre-compact Borel sets in G is **convenient** if

(i) There exist sequences (δ_n) , (ε_n) and (t_n) of positive real numbers such that δ_n , $\varepsilon_n \to 0$, and

(9)
$$G_{t-\delta_n} \subset (G_t)_{V_n}^- \subset (G_t)_{V_n}^+ \subset G_{t+\delta_n}$$
, for all $t > t_n$

and

$$(10) 1 - \varepsilon_n \leq \underline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{m_G(G_{t - \delta_n})}{m_G(G_t)} \text{and} \overline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{m_G(G_{t + \delta_n})}{m_G(G_t)} \leq 1 + \varepsilon_n,$$

for all n.

(ii) For every Borel *G*-space (X, a) and bounded real-valued Borel function φ on X, the set

$$E_{\varphi} := \left\{ x \in X : \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_G(G_t)} \int_{G_t} \varphi(g.x) \, dm_G(g) \text{ exists} \right\}$$

is Borel in X and μ -conull for every $\mu \in M_{\mathrm{fin}}(X)^G$. Furthermore, the function $\overline{\varphi}: E_{\varphi} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\overline{\varphi}(x) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_G(G_t)} \int_{G_t} \varphi(g.x) \, dm_G(g), \quad \text{for } x \in E_{\varphi},$$

is Borel, and for every G-ergodic $\mu \in \operatorname{Prob}(X)^G$, there is a G-invariant and μ -conull Borel subset $E_{\varphi}(\mu) \subset E_{\varphi}$ such that $\overline{\varphi} = \mu(\varphi)$ for all $x \in E_{\varphi}(\mu)$.

Remark 6.2. The key point of Condition (ii) is that the set $E_{\varphi}(\mu)$ is G-invariant. While this is automatic if G is amenable, and (G_t) is a sufficiently nice Følner sequence in G, it is not at all automatic when G is non-amenable. Sufficient conditions on (G_t) to satisfy (ii) are given in [8, Theorem 5.22] (note however that the averages in this book are taken over G_t^{-1}). Examples of convenient sequences in semisimple Lie groups are explicated in [8, Chapter 7].

For the applications we have in mind, it is convenient to require the first condition of (ii) to hold for all G-invariant finite measures μ on X, whereas the second condition is only required to hold for G-ergodic probability measures. We

point out, however, that it is actually enough to check both conditions only for G-invariant **ergodic probability** measures on X. Indeed, assume that (ii) holds for all ergodic probability measures on X and let μ be a finite invariant measure. Since Condition (ii) is invariant under rescaling μ , we may assume that μ is a probability measure, hence admits an ergodic decomposition. Since all ergodic components ν of μ satisfy $\nu(E_{\varphi}) = 1$ we also have $\mu(E_{\varphi}) = 1$, proving that E_{φ} is μ -conull.

6.2 A pointwise transversal ergodic theorem. Our main goal in this section is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 6.3. Suppose $\mu \in \text{Prob}(X)^G$ is G-ergodic. Then, for every convenient sequence (G_t) pre-compact Borel sets in G and for every bounded real-valued Borel function f on X, there is a μ_Y -conull Borel set $E_f \subset Y$ such that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\frac{1}{m_G(G_t)}\sum_{h\in Y_*\cap G_t}f(h.y)=\mu_Y(f),\quad for\ all\ y\in E_f.$$

Proof. We may without loss of generality assume that f is non-negative. Given a non-negative continuous function ρ with compact support such that $m_G(\rho) = 1$, we define

$$f_{\rho}(x) = \sum_{h \in Y_x} \rho(h^{-1}) f(h.x), \quad x \in X.$$

Note that $f_{\rho} = T(\rho \otimes f)$, where T is the Y-periodization defined in (5), so in particular f_{ρ} is a bounded Borel function on X by Lemma 4.1(i) and (v), and by Proposition 4.3,

(11)
$$\mu(f_{\rho}) = m_G(\rho)\mu_Y(f) = \mu_Y(f), \quad \text{for every } \mu \in M_{\text{fin}}(X)^G.$$

Furthermore, by Lemma 4.1(ii)

$$f_{\rho}(g.x) = \sum_{h \in Y_x} \rho(gh^{-1})f(h.x),$$
 for all g ,

and thus, for every Borel set $B \subset G$,

$$\int_{B} f_{\rho}(g.x) = \sum_{h \in Y_{x}} \left(\int_{G} \chi_{g^{-1}B}(h) \, \rho(g) \, dm_{G}(g) \right) f(h.x).$$

Suppose supp $(\rho) \subset V$. Then, since ρ and f are non-negative,

$$\chi_{B_{V}^{-}}(h) \leq \int_{G} \chi_{g^{-1}B}(h) \, \rho(g) \, dm_{G}(g) \leq \chi_{B_{V}^{+}}(h), \quad \text{ for all } h \in G,$$

whence

(12)
$$\sum_{h \in Y_x \cap B_V^-} f(h.x) \le \int_B f_\rho(g.x) \, dm_G(g) \le \sum_{h \in Y_x \cap B_V^+} f(h.x),$$

for all $x \in X$ and for every (pre-compact) Borel set $B \subset G$.

Suppose (G_t) is a convenient sequence of pre-compact Borel sets in G. By (9), there exist sequences (δ_n) and (t_n) such that $\delta_n \to 0$, and

$$G_{t-\delta_n} \subset (G_t)_{V_n}^- \subset (G_t)_{V_n}^+ \subset G_{t+\delta_n}$$
, for all $t > t_n$.

Let (ρ_n) be a sequence of non-negative continuous functions such that supp $(\rho_n) \subset V_n$ and $m_G(\rho_n) = 1$ for all n. If we set $B = G_t$ and $\rho = \rho_n$ in (12), then

$$\sum_{h \in Y_x \cap G_{t-\delta_n}} f(h.x) \le \int_{G_t} f_{\rho_n}(g.x) \, dm_G(g) \le \sum_{h \in Y_x \cap G_{t+\delta_n}} f(h.x)$$

for all $x \in X$ and $t > t_n$. Define

$$\psi_{+}(x) = \overline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_G(G_t)} \sum_{h \in Y_t \cap G_t} f(h.x) \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_{-}(x) = \underline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_G(G_t)} \sum_{h \in Y_t \cap G_t} f(h.x),$$

for $x \in X$, and set $E_n := E_{f_{\rho_n}}$ and $\psi_n := \overline{f}_{\rho_n}$. By (10),

$$(1 - \varepsilon_n)\psi_-(x) \le \psi_n(x) \le (1 + \varepsilon_n)\psi_+(x)$$

for all $x \in E_n$. Furthermore, for every G-ergodic $\mu \in \text{Prob}(X)^G$, we have

$$\psi_n(x) = \mu(f_{\rho_n}) = \mu_Y(f)$$
 for all $x \in E_n(\mu) := E_{f_{\rho_n}}(\mu)$.

Since $\varepsilon_n \to \infty$, we conclude that

$$\psi_+(x) = \psi_-(x) = \mu_Y(f), \quad \text{for all } x \in E'_f(\mu) := \bigcap_n E_n(\mu).$$

By Definition 6.1(ii), each $E'_n(\mu)$ is *G*-invariant and μ -conull, and thus $E'_f(\mu)$ is *G*-invariant and μ -conull as well. By Lemma 4.6, $E_f := E'_f(\mu) \cap Y$ is a μ_Y -conull Borel set in Y, and

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\frac{1}{m_G(G_t)}\sum_{h\in Y\cap G}f(h.y)=\mu_Y(f),$$

for all $y \in E_f$.

6.3 Positivity of lower densities. We now give an application of Theorem 6.3 to densities of generic return time sets. Given a convenient sequence (G_t) of pre-compact Borel sets in G we define the associated lower density $\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}(A)$ of a subset $A \subset G$ by

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{(G_t)}(A) := \underline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{|A \cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)}.$$

We now fix such a sequence once and for all and define the **lower density** function \underline{Dens}_V by

(13)
$$\underline{\operatorname{Dens}}_{Y}: Y \to [0, \infty], \quad \underline{\operatorname{Dens}}_{Y}(y) := \underline{\operatorname{Dens}}_{(G_{I})}(Y_{Y}).$$

Theorem 6.4. For every $\mu \in \text{Prob}(X)^G$, $\underline{\text{Dens}}_Y(y) > 0$ for μ_Y -almost every $y \in Y$.

Proof. Let $N := \{y \in Y : \underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_Y(y) = 0\}$. Fix a *G*-invariant Borel probability measure μ on X. We want to show that $\mu_Y(N) = 0$. By Corollary 4.11, there is a Borel probability measure σ on $\mathrm{Prob}(X)^G$, supported on the set of *G*-ergodic Borel probability measures, such that

$$\mu_Y(f) = \int_{\text{Prob}(X)^G} \eta_Y(f) \, d\sigma(\eta),$$

for every bounded real-valued Borel function on X. Hence it suffices to prove that $\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{Y}(y) > 0$ for η -almost every y, for every G-ergodic η . To do this, note that

$$\underline{\mathrm{Dens}}_{Y}(y) = \underline{\lim}_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{m_{G}(G_{t})} \sum_{h \in Y_{v} \cap G_{t}} 1.$$

By Theorem 6.3, the right-hand side converges to $\eta_Y(1)$ for η -almost every y, and for every G-ergodic Borel probability measure η . By Lemma 4.5 we have $\eta_Y(1) > 0$, and we are done.

7 Transverse measures for actions of semidirect products

In this section we finally establish Theorem 1.7 concerning restriction in stages for semidirect products which is the main technical result of this article. We also provide several criteria for the intermediate cross section to be separated; this will be used in the proof of Theorem 1.9 and some of its variants.

- **7.1 Basic setup.** Let G be a lcsc group. We assume that there are closed subgroups N and L of G, with left Haar measures m_N and m_L respectively, such that:
 - G = NL, N is normal in G and $N \cap L = \{e\}$. In other words, G is the semidirect product of N and L.
 - The conjugation action of L on N preserves m_N .

The first assumption in particular implies that every element g in G is of the form nl for unique elements $n \in N$ and $l \in L$ and we write $n := \operatorname{pr}_N(g)$ and $l := \operatorname{pr}_L(g)$. Note that $\operatorname{pr}_L : G \to L$ is a continuous homomorphism. The second assumption implies that

$$m_G(f) = \int_N \int_L f(nl) \, dm_N(n) \, dm_L(l), \quad f \in C_c(G),$$

is a left Haar measure on G. Note that

$$(14) m_G(W_N W_L) = m_N(W_N) m_L(W_L),$$

for all Borel sets $W_N \subset N$ and $W_L \subset L$. The key example that we have in mind is the following:

Example 7.1. Let G_o be a unimodular lcsc group, set $G := G_o^n$ and denote by $\pi_k : G \to G_o$ the kth coordinate projection. For some k let $N := N_k := \ker(\pi_k)$ and let $L := \Delta(G_o) < G$ be the diagonal subgroup. Then the triple (G, N, L) satisfies all of the assumptions above. Indeed, since G_o is unimodular, G, N and L are unimodular, and the L-action on N_k preserves the (bi-invariant) Haar measure on N_k .

Given an open identity neighborhood U in G and a U-transverse triple (X, a, Z) over G we make the following definitions: We fix Borel exhaustion $\mathbb{Z} = \{Z_n : n \ge 1\}$ of Z, and let $\mathcal{L} = \{L_n : n \ge 1\}$ and $\mathbb{N} = \{N_n : n \ge 1\}$ be fundamental exhaustions by compact sets of L and N respectively. We define

$$Y := L.Z$$
 and $Y_n := L_n.Z_n$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $\mathcal{G} = \{N_nL_n : n \ge 1\}$,

and $a_L := a|_{L \times X}$ and $a_N := a|_{N \times X}$. Note that Y and Y_n are Borel sets in X by Lemma 3.1(iv) and Lemma 2.1(iii). In particular, (Y, a_L) is a Borel L-space by Lemma 2.1(i), and (Y, a_L, Z) is a $U \cap L$ -transverse triple over L. At the same time Y is also a cross section for the Borel action a_N of N on X. In the sequel we refer to it as the **intermediate cross section**.

7.2 Criteria for separatedness of the intermediate cross section.

We keep the notation of the previous subsection. In particular, Z is a separated G-transversal in X and at the same time a separated N-transversal in Y. The following example shows that Y need not be separated when considered as an N-cross section in X.

Example 7.2. Let $G = \mathbb{R}^2$, $N = \mathbb{R} \times \{0\}$ and $L = \mathbb{R}(\alpha, 1)$, where α is an irrational number, and let $X = \mathbb{R}^2/\mathbb{Z}^2$, $Z = \{(0, 0)\}$ and Y = L.Z. Then, for every $y = (t\alpha + \mathbb{Z}, t + \mathbb{Z}) \in Y$,

$$Y_{v} = \{ (m + n\alpha, 0) : m, n \in \mathbb{Z} \},$$

which clearly accumulates at (0, 0), and thus Y is not a separated cross section.

Our next lemma provides a necessary and sufficient criterion for Y to be a separated cross section in terms of the return time set $\Lambda_a(Z)$. However, this criterion is often difficult to verify, so we also give two sufficient criteria, which are easier to check in practise. We use the following notation: if $W \subset N$, then $W^l := lWl^{-1}$ for $l \in L$ and $W^L := \bigcup_{l \in L} W^l$.

Lemma 7.1. We have $\Lambda_{a_N}(Y) = \operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L$. In particular, Y is a separated cross section if and only if $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L$ is uniformly discrete. This is the case if either

- (i) there is a compact set $K_L \subset L$ such that $K_L(\Lambda_a(Z) \cap L) = L$, and $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z)^3)$ does not accumulate at the identity in N, or
- (ii) G is abelian, and $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))$ does not accumulate at the identity in N.

Proof. Let us first show that $\Lambda_{a_N}(Y) = \operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L$. Consider the following equivalences: (1) $n \in \Lambda_{a_N}(Y)$, i.e., there exists $y \in Y$ such that $y' := n.y \in Y$. Since Y = L.Z, we can write $y = l_z.z$ and $y' = l_o.z_o$ for some $l_o, l_z \in L$ and $z_o, z \in Z$. Hence (1) is equivalent to (2): $(l_o^{-1}nl_o)l_o^{-1}l_z \in Z_z$, for some $l_o, l_z \in L$ and $z \in Z$. Since N is normal, $N \cap L = \{e\}$, G = NL, and z and l_z are arbitrary, (2) is equivalent to (3): $l_o^{-1}nl_o \in \operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))$ for some $l_o \in L$, or equivalently, $n \in \operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L$.

Note that if G is abelian, then $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L = \operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))$, since the L-action on N is trivial, and hence we deduce that Condition (ii) is sufficient. Now suppose that (i) holds and fix a compact subset $K_L \subset L$ such that $K_L(\Lambda_a(Z) \cap L) = L$. Since $\eta \Lambda_a(Z) \eta^{-1} \subset \Lambda_a(Z)^3$ for all $\eta \in \Lambda_a(Z) \cap L$, we have

$$\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z))^{L} \subset \operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{3})^{K_{L}}.$$

Suppose that $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z)^3)$ does not accumulate at the identity in N. Then there is an identity neighborhood W in N such that $\operatorname{pr}(\Lambda_a(Z)^3) \cap W = \{e\}$. Let U_N be an

open identity neighborhood in N such that $k^{-1}U_Nk \subset W$ for all $k \in K_L$. Then,

$$\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{3})^{K_{L}} \cap U_{N} \subseteq (\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{3}) \cap U_{N}^{K_{L}^{-1}})^{K_{L}}$$
$$\subseteq (\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{3}) \cap W)^{K_{L}} = \{e\},$$

and thus $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L \cap U_N = \{e\}$ as well. In particular, Y is a U_N -separated cross section.

One might suspect that the cocompactness assumption in Lemma 7.1(i) which assumes that there is a compact set K_L in L such that $K_L(\Lambda_a(Z) \cap L) = L$ is superfluous, since it has no counterpart in the abelian case. Our next example shows that it cannot simply be dropped in the non-abelian case.

Example 7.3. Let $G = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, let L denote the diagonal in G, and let $N = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \times \{e\}$. Note that $\mathrm{pr}_N(g_1, g_2) = g_1g_2^{-1}$. Let $\Gamma_o = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma_o \times \Gamma_o$, and set

$$X = G/\Gamma$$
 and $Z = \{\Gamma\},$

where G acts on X by left multiplication. Then it is easy to check that $\Lambda_a(Z) = \Gamma$ and $\operatorname{pr}_N(\Lambda_a(Z))^L = \Gamma_o^{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})} \times \{e\}$. Since Γ_o contains non-trivial unipotent elements, $\Gamma_o^{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})}$ accumulates at e in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, and thus

$$Y := L.Z = \{(g_{\rho}\Gamma_{\rho}, g_{\rho}\Gamma_{\rho}) : g_{\rho} \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})\}$$

is not a separated cross section for the N-action. However, since

$$\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{3}) = \Gamma_{o} \times \{e\},$$

the second condition in Lemma 7.1(i) clearly holds.

7.3 Restriction in stages. In this section we establish Theorem 1.7 from the introduction. In fact, we are going to establish a more general version which also works for certain infinite measures. We keep the notation of the previous subsection and assume in addition that Y is a U_N -separated cross section for the N-action on X for some open identity neighborhood U_N in N.

Let now $\mu \in M(X, \mathcal{Z}_{\mathfrak{S}})^G$ and let

$$\mu_Z := {}^G \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu) \in M(Z, \mathbb{Z})^{R_{G,Z}}.$$

Since $\mu \in M(\mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{N}})^L$ (as $L \subset G$ and $\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{G}} = (\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{L}})_{\mathcal{N}} = \mathcal{Y}_{\mathcal{N}}$) we can also form the intermediate measure $\mu_Y := {}^N \mathrm{res}_Y^X(\mu) \in M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_{N,Y}}$.

Theorem 7.2. Assume that the N-cross section Y is separated and let $\mu \in M(C, \mathbb{Z}_9)^G$ and $\mu_Z := {}^G \operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu) \in M(Z, \mathbb{Z})^{R_{G,Z}}$.

- (i) The measure $\mu_Y \in M(Y, \mathcal{Y})^{R_{N,Y}}$ is L-invariant and hence the transverse measure $(\mu_Y)_Z := {}^L \operatorname{res}_Z^Y(\mu_Y)$ is well-defined.
- (ii) $(\mu_Y)_Z = \mu_Z$.

Proof. Fix identity neighborhoods V, V_N and V_L in G, N and L respectively, such that

$$V^{-1}V \subset U$$
 and $V_N^{-1}V_N \subset U_N$ and $V_L^{-1}V_L \subset L \cap U$.

We may without loss of generality assume that $V_N V_L \subset V$. Note that $V \times Z$, $V_L \times Z$ and $V_N \times Y$ are a-injective, a_L -injective and a_N -injective Borel sets respectively (cf. Lemma 3.1(i)).

To prove that μ_Y is L-invariant, we fix $l \in L$, a Borel set $B \subset Y$ and an identity neighborhood $V_l \subset V_N$ such that $l^{-1}V_l l \subset V_N$. Then, since $l.B \subset Y$ and $V_l \times l.B$ is an injective Borel set in $N \times Y$,

$$\mu_Y(l.B) = \frac{\mu(V_l l.B)}{m_N(V_l)} = \frac{\mu(l^{-1}V_l l.B)}{m_N(V_l)} = \frac{m_N(l^{-1}V_l l)}{m_N(V_l)} \,\mu_Y(B) = \mu_Y(B),$$

where we in the second equality have used that μ is L-invariant, and in the last identity that the conjugation action of L on N preserves m_N . Since l and B are arbitrary, μ_Y is L-invariant.

Let us now prove the identity $(\mu_Y)_Z = \mu_Z$. Note that

$$\mu(V_N V_L.B) = m_N(V_N)\mu_Y(V_L.B) = m_N(V_N)m_L(V_L)(\mu_Y)_Z(B),$$

for every Borel set $B \subset Z$, where we in the first identity have used that μ_Y is the Y-transverse of μ for the N-action, and in the second identity that $(\mu_Y)_Z$ is the transverse measure of μ_Y for the L-action on Y. On the other hand,

$$\mu(V_NV_L.B)=m_G(V_NV_L)\mu_Z(B)=m_N(V_N)m_L(V_L)\mu_Z(B),$$

since μ_Z is the Z-transverse measure of μ for the G-action on X. Since B is arbitrary, we conclude that $(\mu_Y)_Z = \mu_Z$.

Proof of Theorem 1.7. This is just a special case of Theorem 7.2 in which μ is finite.

There are several equivalent ways to formulate Theorem 7.2, for example:

Corollary 7.3. Assume that the N-cross section Y is separated. Then the composition ${}^{L}\text{res}_{Z}^{Y} \circ {}^{N}\text{res}_{Y}^{X}$ is well-defined on $M(X, \mathbb{Z}_{3})^{G}$ and satisfies

$$L_{\text{res}_{Z}^{Y}} \circ {}^{N}_{\text{res}_{Z}^{X}} = {}^{G}_{\text{res}_{Z}^{X}} : M(X, \mathcal{Z}_{G})^{G} \to M(Z, \mathcal{Z})^{R_{G,Z}}.$$

Similarly, the composition N ind $^X_Y \circ ^L$ ind Y_Z is well-defined on $M(Z, \mathfrak{Z})^{R_{G,Z}}$ and satisfies

$$^{N}\operatorname{ind}_{Y}^{X} \circ ^{L}\operatorname{ind}_{Z}^{Y} = {^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{Z}^{X}}: M(Z, \mathcal{Z})^{R_{G,Z}} \to M(X, \mathcal{Z}_{G})^{G}.$$

Indeed, the first version is just a reformulation, and the second version follows from Lemma 4.5. Yet another way to express the same conclusion is to say that for $\mu \in M(X, \mathcal{Z}_S)^G$ we have

(15)
$${}^{N}\operatorname{res}_{Y}^{X}(\mu) = {}^{L}\operatorname{ind}_{Z}^{Y}\left({}^{G}\operatorname{res}_{Y}^{X}(\mu)\right).$$

Note that the group N does not appear on the right-hand side. This implies the following independence of the measure μ_Y from the choice of semidirect splitting:

Corollary 7.4. Let $\mu \in M(X; \mathbb{Z}_{\mathfrak{I}})^G$ and suppose that N_1 and N_2 are closed and normal unimodular subgroups of G such that

$$N_1 \cap L = N_2 \cap L = \{e\}$$
 and $G = N_1L = N_2L$.

Assume that Y is a separated cross section for both a_{N_1} and a_{N_2} and that the L-actions on $N^{(1)}$ and $N^{(2)}$ by conjugation preserve the respective Haar-measures. Then

$$^{N_1}\operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu) = ^{N_2}\operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu) = ^{L}\operatorname{ind}_Z^Y(^{G}\operatorname{res}_Y^X(\mu)).$$

7.4 Compatibility of transverse measures. We keep the notation of the previous subsection, including the assumption that Y is a U_N -separated cross section for the N-action on X for some open identity neighborhood U_N in N. Our goal here is to establish the following compatibility theorem about transverse measures which will be used in the proof of Theorem 1.8 to show that the normalized intersection measure is a joining.

Theorem 7.5. Let (T, b_o) be a Borel L-space and $\pi: X \to T$ be a Borel G-map, where G acts on T via the homomorphism pr_L . Suppose $\mu \in M(X; \mathcal{Z}_{\mathfrak{Z}})^G$ is finite and $\pi_*\mu$ is L-ergodic. Then

$$\pi_*\mu_Y = \mu_Y(Y)\,\pi_*\mu.$$

Remark 7.6. We do not know whether *L*-ergodicity of $\pi_*\mu$ is necessary. In the proof below, we show that $\pi_*\mu_Y$ is always absolutely continuous with respect to $\pi_*\mu$, but it seems to be a difficult problem to explicate the Radon–Nikodym derivative in general.

Proof. Since μ is finite, μ_Y is finite as well, so $\pi_*\mu$ and $\pi_*\mu_Y$ are both finite L-invariant Borel measures on T. Since $\pi_*\mu$ is assumed to be L-ergodic, to prove the theorem, it is enough to show that $\pi_*\mu_Y$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\pi_*\mu$. To do this, let $B \subset T$ be a Borel set such that $\pi_*\mu(B) = \mu(\pi^{-1}(B)) = 0$. We want to prove that $\pi_*\mu_Y(B) = \mu_Y(\pi^{-1}(B) \cap Y) = 0$. Since N acts trivially on T,

П

the pre-image $\pi^{-1}(B)$ is an *N*-invariant Borel set in *X*. Hence, since μ_Y is the *Y*-transverse measure of μ for the *N*-action on *X*,

$$m_N(V_N)\mu_Y(\pi^{-1}(B)\cap Y) = \mu(V_N.(\pi^{-1}(B)\cap Y)) \le \mu(V_N.\pi^{-1}(B))$$
$$= \mu(\pi^{-1}(B)) = 0,$$

and thus $\pi_* \mu_Y(B) = 0$.

8 Intersection spaces

In this section we apply the general theory of transverse measures for semidirect products developed in the previous section to the special case where G is as in Example 7.1 and X is a product space. In this case, the intermediate cross section Y is precisely the intersection space discussed in the introduction, and we can use this to deduce Theorem 1.8 from Theorem 7.2. Once the good properties of the intersection measure are established, we obtain Theorem 1.10 and Theorem 1.11(and hence their special cases Theorem 1.5 and Theorem 1.6) by applying the results of the second part. We also establish the commensurability criterion from Theorem 1.9.

8.1 Basic setup. Let G_o be a lcsc unimodular group with left Haar measure m_{G_o} . As in Example 7.1 we define $G := G_o^r, N_k := \ker(\pi_k)$ (where $\pi_k : G \to G_o$ is the kth coordinate projection) and $L := \Delta(G_o)$. Furthermore, we assume that we are given G_o -spaces $(X_1, a_1), \ldots, (X_r, a_r)$ and corresponding separated cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r for some identity neighborhood U_k in G_o . We also pick open identity neighborhoods U_k in G_o such that Z_k is U_k -separated and abbreviate $\Lambda_k := \Lambda_{a_k}(Z_k) \subset G_o$. We now set

$$X := X_1 \times \cdots \times X_r,$$
 $Z := Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r,$ $U := U_1 \times \cdots \times U_r$ and $\Lambda := \Lambda_1 \times \cdots \times \Lambda_r,$

and denote by a the product of the G_o -actions a_1, \ldots, a_r so that (X, a) is a Borel G-space and Z is a U-separated cross section with return time set $\Lambda_a(Z) = \Lambda$. We now apply the theory of the previous section to the transverse triple (X, a, Z) of the semidirect product $G = N_k L$. The key observation, which links the theory developed in the last section to the results presented in the introduction, is that the intermediate transversal Y := L.Z is precisely the intersection space

$$Y = X^{[r]} := \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_r) \in X^r : \bigcap_{k=1}^r (Z_k)_{x_k} \neq \emptyset \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ (x_1, \dots, x_r) \in X^r : \exists g_o \in G_o \ \forall k \in \{1, \dots, r\} : g_o.x_k \in Z_k \right\}$$

considered in the introduction. It thus follows from the results of the previous section that $X^{[r]}$ is Borel and $N_k.X^{[r]} = X$ for every $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$.

To study finiteness properties of measures on the spaces X, Y and Z we fix a fundamental exhaustion $\mathcal{G}_o = \{K_n^{(o)} : n \geq 1\}$ of G_o by compact sets and a Borel exhaustion $\mathcal{Z}_k = \{Z_n^{(k)} : n \geq 1\}$ of Z_k for each $k \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$. Let \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{Z} denote the fundamental exhaustion of G by compact sets and the Borel exhaustion of Z given by

$$\mathcal{G} = \{K_n^{(o)} \times \cdots \times K_n^{(o)} : n \ge 1\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{Z} = \{Z_n^{(1)} \times \cdots \times Z_n^{(r)} : n \ge 1\}.$$

We denote by \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{N}_k the restrictions of \mathcal{G} to L and N_k respectively, and we denote by $\mathcal{X}^{[r]}$ the \mathcal{L} -suspension of \mathcal{Z} , and by $\mathcal{X}^{[r]}_{\mathcal{N}_k}$ the \mathcal{N}_k -suspension of $\mathcal{X}^{[r]}$.

8.2 Commensurability of cross sections. We keep the notation of the previous subsection. In order for our general theory to apply, we need to ensure that the intermediate cross section $Y = X^{[r]}$ is separated for each of the actions $a|_{N_k}$ of N_k . We recall from the introduction that the separated cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_k are called **commensurable** if this is the case. From Lemma 7.1 we can derive the following criteria for commensurability.

Lemma 8.1. For a fixed k, $Y = X^{[r]}$ is a separated cross section for $a|_{N_k}$ if either

- (i) there exists a compact set $K_o \subset G_o$ such that $K_o(\bigcap_{j=1}^r \Lambda_j) = G_o$, and for all $j \neq k$, $\Lambda_j^3 \Lambda_k^3$ does not accumulate at the identity in G_o , or
- (ii) G_o is abelian, and for all $j \neq k$, $\Lambda_j \Lambda_k$ does not accumulate at the identity in G_o .

In particular, the cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_k are commensurable if one of these conditions holds for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

Remark 8.2. Before we embark on the proof, let us first make a few preliminary observations. Given a subset $A \subset G_o$ we set $\Delta_r(A) = \{(a, \ldots, a) : a \in A\}$. Since $\Delta_a(Z) = \Lambda$ we then have

$$\Lambda_a(Z) \cap L = \Delta_r \Big(\bigcap_{j=1}^r \Lambda_j \Big)$$
 and $\Lambda_a(Z)^p = \Lambda_1^p \times \cdots \times \Lambda_r^p$,

for every positive integer p. Furthermore,

$$\operatorname{pr}_{N_k}(g) = (g_1 g_k^{-1}, \dots, e, \dots, g_r g_k^{-1}) \in N_k,$$

for all $g = (g_1, \dots, g_r) \in G$, where e is in the kth position. In particular,

$$\operatorname{pr}_{N}(\Lambda_{a}(Z)^{p}) \subset \Lambda_{1}^{p}\Lambda_{k}^{p} \times \cdots \times \{e\} \times \cdots \times \Lambda_{r}^{p}\Lambda_{k}^{p}.$$

Proof of Lemma 8.1. (i) By Lemma 7.1(i), Y is a separated cross section for $a|_{N_k}$ if there is a compact set $K_L \subset L$ such that $K_L \operatorname{pr}_{N_k}(\Lambda_a(Z) \cap L) = L$ and $\operatorname{pr}_{N_k}(\Lambda_a(Z)^3)$ does not accumulate at the identity in N_k . From the remarks above, the first condition just means that there is a compact set $K_o \subset G_o$ such that

$$\Delta_r(K_o)\Delta_r\left(\bigcap_{j=1}^r\Lambda_j\right)=\Delta_r\left(K_o\left(\bigcap_{j=1}^r\Lambda_j\right)\right)=L,$$

while the second condition means that $\Lambda_j^3 \Lambda_k^3$ does not accumulate at zero in G_o for every $j \neq k$. The same argument applies to (ii), but now using Lemma 7.1(ii).

Proof of Theorem 1.9. This is just a special case of Lemma 8.1. \Box

8.3 The intersection measure. We keep the notation of Section 8.1. Moreover, we assume that the separated cross sections Z_1, \ldots, Z_r are commensurable. We now assume that we are given G_o -invariant measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r on X_1, \ldots, X_r respectively such that μ_k is $(\mathcal{Z}_k)_{G_o}$ -finite. Then, by definition, we have

$$\mu:=\mu_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\mu_r\in M(X,\mathcal{Z}_{\mathfrak{I}})^G\subset M(X,\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{N}_{\ell}}^{[r]})^{N_k}$$

for all $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$ and hence for any such k we can form the tranverse measure

$$\mu_k^{[r]} := {}^{N_k} \operatorname{res}_{X^{[r]}}^X \in M(X^{[r]}, \mathcal{X}^{[r]}).$$

By Corollary 7.4 the measure $\mu^{[r]} := \mu_1^{[r]} = \cdots = \mu_r^{[r]}$ is actually independent of the choice of k.

Definition 8.3. The measure $\mu^{[r]} \in M(X^{[r]}, \mathcal{X}^{[r]})$ is called the **intersection** measure of μ_1, \ldots, μ_r .

From the general theory we infer the following properties of intersection measures:

Theorem 8.4. Suppose that $Z_1, ..., Z_r$ are commensurable and for every $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$ let μ_k be a $(\mathcal{Z}_k)_{G_o}$ -finite G_o -invariant Borel measure on X_k . Then the intersection measure $\mu^{[r]}$ of $\mu_1, ..., \mu_r$ has the following properties:

- (i) $\mu^{[r]} \in M(X^{[r]}; \mathcal{X}^{[r]})^L$ is L-invariant.
- (ii) $\mu^{[r]}$ is the unique measure in $M(X^{[r]}; X^{[r]})^L$ such that

$$(\mu^{[r]})_Z = (\mu_1)_{Z_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes (\mu_k)_{Z_k}.$$

- (iii) If μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are finite, then $\mu^{[r]}$ is finite.
- (iv) If μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are G_o -ergodic Borel probability measures, then $\mu^{[r]}/\mu^{[r]}(X^{[r]})$ is a G_o -invariant joining of μ_1, \ldots, μ_r .

Remark 8.5. We stress that $\mu^{[r]}$ does not need to be *L*-ergodic, even if μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are all G_o -ergodic.

Proof. (i) and (ii) follow from Theorem 7.2 applied to $\mu = \mu_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mu_r$ and the fact that ${}^L \operatorname{res}_Z^{X^{[r]}}$ is injective (Lemma 4.5).

- (iii) If μ_1, \ldots, μ_r , then μ is finite, and thus $\mu^{[r]} = \mu_Y$ is finite as well by Remark 4.4.
- (iv) Fix $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$ and denote by $p_k : X \to X_k$ the projection onto the kth factor. We have to show that $(p_k)_*(\mu_k^{[r]}/\mu_k^{[r]}(X^{[r]})) = \mu_k$. Since p_k is an L-map (where L acts on X_k via the k'th coordinate), this follows from Theorem 7.5 applied to the map p_k .

Proof of Theorem 1.8. This is just a special case of Theorem 8.4 in which μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are finite.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. This is just a special case of Theorem 8.4 in which $X_1 = \cdots = X_r$ and $\mu_1 = \cdots = \mu_r$ is finite.

8.4 Applications. We now derive Theorem 1.10 and Theorem 1.11 from the introduction from Theorem 8.4. We thus assume that G_o is non-compact, X_1, \ldots, X_r are Polish spaces and a_1, \ldots, a_r are jointly continuous G_o -actions. We also assume that μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are Borel probability measures on $X_1, \ldots X_r$ respectively. Theorem 8.4(i)–(iii) then implies that their intersection measure $\mu^{[r]}$ is a finite L-invariant Borel measure on $X^{[r]}$ such that

$$(\mu^{[r]})_Z = (\mu_1)_{Z_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes (\mu_r)_{Z_r}.$$

We observe that for every $z = (z_1, ..., z_r) \in Z$,

(16)
$$Z_z = \{ g \in G : g.(z_1, \dots, z_r) \in Z_1 \times \dots \times Z_r \} = \bigcap_{k=1}^r (Z_k)_{z_k}.$$

Proof of Theorem 1.10. By Theorem 5.1, there is a $(\mu^{[r]})_Z$ -conull Borel set $Z' \subset Z$ such that for all $z \in Z'$, there is a sequence $g_n \in Z'_z$ such that $g_n \to \infty$ and $g_n.z \to z$. If we unwrap this using (16) and the formula

$$(\mu^{[r]})_Z = (\mu_1)_{Z_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes (\mu_r)_{Z_r},$$

then we see that we are done.

Proof of Theorem 1.11. By Theorem 6.4, applied to the L-action on $X^{[r]}$, we have

$$\underline{\lim_{t\to\infty}} \frac{|Z_z\cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)} > 0, \quad \text{for } (\mu^{[r]})_Z\text{-almost every } z\in Z.$$

In view of (16) and since $(\mu^{[r]})_Z = (\mu_1)_{Z_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes (\mu_r)_{Z_r}$, this is what we want to prove.

Proofs of Theorems 1.5 and 1.6. These are just the special cases $X_1 = \cdots = X_r$ and $\mu_1 = \cdots = \mu_r$ of Theorems 1.10 and 1.11 respectively.

9 Application to uniform approximate lattices

We now specialize the results of the previous section to our main case of interest and derive Theorem 1.1, Theorem 1.2 and Theorem 1.12 from the introduction. In fact, we will establish a slightly more general result concerning transverse triples whose return time sets are uniform approximate lattices.

9.1 Uniform approximate lattices and commensurability of cross sections. Let G_o be a unimodular lese group. A subset $\Theta \subset G_o$ is called **symmetric** if $\Theta = \Theta^{-1}$. A symmetric subset $\Theta \subset G_o$ is called **cocompact** if there is a compact set $K \subset G_o$ such that $K\Theta = G_o$. If Θ is a symmetric subset of G which contains e, then we denote by Θ^{∞} the subgroup of G generated by Θ , i.e., $\Theta^{\infty} = \bigcup_{p>1} \Theta^p$.

We now consider the following situation: Let (X_o, a_o, Z_o) be a U_o -transverse triple for G_o for some identity neighborhood U_o in G_o and denote by $\Lambda_o := \Lambda_{a_o}(Z_o) \subset G_o$ the associated return time set. For every $\lambda \in \Lambda_o^{\infty}$ the set $\lambda.Z_o$ is then a cross section for (X,a) and since $(Z_k)_{\lambda_k.z_o} = \lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_o}\lambda_k^{-1}$ for all $z_o \in Z_o$ we see that $\lambda.Z$ is a U_o^{λ} -separated cross section and $\Lambda_{a_o}(\lambda.Z) = \Lambda_o^{\lambda}$. Here we are interested in the following problem: Given $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \Lambda^{\infty}$, are the cross sections $\lambda_1.Z_o, \ldots, \lambda_r.Z_o$ commensurable so that our general theory applies? According to Lemma 8.1 it suffices to ensure that the subsets $\Lambda_k := \Lambda_{a_o}(\lambda_k.Z) = \Lambda_o^{\lambda_k}$ are cocompact (or equivalently, that Λ_o is cocompact) and that the sets $\Lambda_j^3 \Lambda_k^3$ do not accumulate at e for any $j \neq k$. Since $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \Lambda_o^{\infty}$ we can find a positive integer p_r such that $\lambda_k \in \Lambda_o^{p_r}$ for all k. We then have

$$\Lambda_i^p \Lambda_k^p \subset \Lambda_o^{2(p+2p_r)}$$
, for all $p \ge 1$.

Thus $\lambda_1 Z, \ldots, \lambda_r Z$ are commensurable provided Λ_o is cocompact and $\Lambda_o^{p+2p_r}$ does not accumulate at the identity.

We now recall from the introduction that a symmetric subset Θ of a lcsc group G_o is called an **approximate subgroup** if $e \in \Theta$ and there is a finite set $F \subset G_o$ such that $\Theta^2 \subset \Theta F$. We say that Θ is **cocompact** if there is a compact set $K \subset G_o$ such that $K\Theta = G_o$. Note that if an approximate subgroup Θ is a uniformly discrete subset of G_o , then so is every iterated product set Θ^p for $p \ge 1$.

Conversely, if Θ is cocompact and Θ^p is uniformly discrete for all p, then Θ is an approximate subgroup of G_o ([2, Proposition 2.9]). In this case we call Θ a **uniform approximate lattice** in G_o . From the discussion above we thus infer:

Lemma 9.1. If Λ_o is a uniform approximate lattice in G_o , then for all $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \Lambda_o^{\infty}$ the separated cross sections $\lambda_1 Z, \ldots, \lambda_r Z$ are commensurable.

9.2 Twisted multiple recurrence and twisted positive density. Let G_o be a lcsc group and let (X, a) be a Polish G-space such that a_o is jointly continuous. Moreover, let $Z_o \subset G_o$ be a U-separated cross section for some open identity neighborhood $U_o \subset G_o$ with return time set $\Lambda_o := \Lambda_{a_o}(Z_o)$.

Theorem 9.2. Suppose Λ_o is a uniform approximate lattice in G_o and let μ_o be a G-invariant Borel probability measure on X_o .

(i) There is a $(\mu_o)_{Z_o}^{\otimes r}$ -conull Borel set $Z' \subset Z_o^r$ such that for all $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z'$, there is a sequence $g_n \in \bigcap_{k=1}^r \lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_k} \lambda_k^{-1}$ such that

$$g_n \to \infty$$
 and $\lambda_k^{-1} g_n \lambda_k . z_k \to z_k$, for all k ,

as $n \to \infty$.

(ii) For every convenient sequence (G_t) of pre-compact Borel sets in G_o ,

$$\underline{\lim_{t\to\infty}}\frac{|(\bigcap_{k=1}^r\lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_k}\lambda_k^{-1})\cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)}>0,$$

for $(\mu_o)_{Z_o}^{\otimes r}$ -almost every $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z_o^r$.

Proof. We abbreviate $Z_k := \lambda_k.Z_o$ and $\Lambda_k := \Lambda_o^{\lambda_k}$ for all $k \in \{1, ..., r\}$. Since Λ_o is a uniform approximate lattice in G_o , the cross sections $Z_1, ..., Z_r$ are commensurable by Lemma 9.1. Note that $Z := Z_1 \times \cdots \times Z_r = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_r).Z_o^r$. We set $\mu_k := \mu_o$ for k = 1, ..., r, and note that

(17)
$$(\mu_k)_{Z_k} = (\lambda_k)_* (\mu_o)_{Z_o}, \quad \text{for all } k,$$

by Lemma 4.12. Moreover,

$$(Z_k)_{\lambda_k.z_k} = \lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_k}\lambda_k^{-1}$$
 for all $z_k \in Z_o$.

(i) By Theorem 1.10, there is a $\prod_{k=1}^{r} (\mu_k)_{Z_k}$ -conull Borel set $Z'' \subset Z$ such that for all r-tuples $(z'_1, \ldots, z'_r) \in Z''$, there is a sequence $g_n \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{r} (Z_k)_{z'_k}$ such that

$$g_n \to \infty$$
 and $g_n.(z'_1, \ldots, z'_r) \to (z'_1, \ldots, z'_r),$

as $n \to \infty$. Set $Z' := (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_r)^{-1} . Z'' \subset Z_o^r$. By (17), Z' is a $(\mu_o)_{Z_o}^{\otimes r}$ -conull Borel subset of Z_o^r . Furthermore, for all $(z_1, \dots, z_r) \in Z'$,

$$(z'_1,\ldots,z'_r)=(\lambda_1.z_1,\ldots,\lambda_r.z_r)\in Z'',$$

and thus there is a sequence $g_n \in \bigcap_{k=1}^r (Z_k)_{z'_k} = \bigcap_{k=1}^r \lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_k} \lambda_k^{-1}$, such that

$$g_n \to \infty$$
 and $g_n \lambda_k.z_k \to \lambda_k.z_k$,

as $n \to \infty$.

(ii) By Theorem 1.11, for every convenient sequence (G_t) of pre-compact Borel sets in G_o ,

$$\underline{\lim_{t\to\infty}}\,\frac{|(\bigcap_{k=1}^r(Z_k)_{z_k'})\cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)}>0,$$

for all (z'_1, \ldots, z'_r) in some $\prod_{k=1}^r (\mu_k)_{Z_k}$ -conull subset $Z'' \subset Z$. We thus see that

$$\underline{\lim_{t\to\infty}}\,\frac{|(\bigcap_{k=1}^r\lambda_k(Z_o)_{z_k}\lambda_k^{-1})\cap G_t|}{m_G(G_t)}>0,$$

for all $(z_1, \ldots, z_r) \in Z' := (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r)^{-1} Z''$, and Z' is a $(\mu_o)_{Z_o}^{\otimes r}$ -conull subset of Z_o^r by (17).

To close the circle, we now finally return to the setting of Subsection 1.1 which motivated this whole article. Thus let $P_o \subset G_o$ be a uniformly discrete subset such that $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ admits a G_o -invariant probability measure μ_o and such that $\Lambda_o := P_o P_o^{-1}$ is a uniform approximate lattice. Denote by a_r the right-multiplication action of G_o on $\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$. Then

- $X := \Omega_{P_o}^{\times}$ is locally compact, hence Polish, and the *G*-action a_r is jointly continuous;
- $Z := \mathcal{T}_{P_o}$ is a cross section for (X, a_r) ;
- the return time set of (X, a_r, Z) is Λ_o ; indeed, as in the proof of Proposition 3.2 one sees that $\Lambda_o \subset \Lambda_{a_r}(Z) \subset \overline{\Lambda_o}$, but Λ_o is unifomly discrete, hence closed.

In particular, (X, a_r, Z) is a transverse triple over G_o whose return time set is the uniform approximate lattice Λ_o .

Proof of Corollary 1.12. Apply Theorem 9.2 to the triple

$$(X, a_r, Z) := (\Omega_{P_o}^{\times}, a_r, \mathfrak{T}_{P_o}).$$

Proofs of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2. These are just the special cases of Corollary 1.12(i) and (ii) in which $\lambda_1 = \cdots = \lambda_r = e$.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the appropriate credit is given to the original authors and the source, and a link is provided to the Creative Commons license, indicating if changes were made (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

REFERENCES

- [1] N. Avni, Entropy theory for cross sections, Geom. Funct. Anal. 19 (2010), 1515–1538.
- [2] M. Björklund and T. Hartnick, Approximate lattices, Duke Math. J. 167 (2018), 2903–2964.
- [3] M. Björklund, T. Hartnick and F. Pogorzelski, *Aperiodic order and spherical diffraction, I: auto-correlation of regular model sets*, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) **116** (2018), 957–996.
- [4] M. Björklund, T. Hartnick and F. Pogorzelski, *Aperiodic order and spherical diffraction, II:* translation bounded measures on homogeneous spaces, Math. Z. **300** (2022), 1157–1201.
- [5] V. I. Bogachev, Measure Theory. Vol. I, Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [6] Y. Cornulier and P. de la Harpe, *Metric Geometry of Locally Compact Groups*, European Mathematical Society, Zürich, 2016.
- [7] P. Forrest, On the virtual groups defined by ergodic actions of \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbb{Z}^n , Adv. Math. **14** (1974), 271–308.
- [8] A. Gorodnik and A. Nevo, *The Ergodic Theory of Lattice Subgroups*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2010.
- [9] G. Greschonig and K. Schmidt, Ergodic decomposition of quasi-invariant probability measures, Colloq. Math. 84/85 (2000), 495–514.
- [10] A. Izzo, A functional analysis proof of the existence of Haar measure on locally compact abelian groups, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 115 (1992), 581–583.
- [11] A. Izzo, A simple proof of the existence of Haar measure on amenable groups, Math. Scand. **120** (2017), 317–319.
- [12] A. S. Kechris, Classical Descriptive Set Theory, Springer, New York, 1995.
- [13] D. Kyed, H. D. Petersen and S. Vaes, L²-Betti numbers of locally compact groups and their cross section equivalence relations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **367** (2015), 4917–4956.
- [14] K. Slutsky, Regular cross sections of Borel flows, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 21 (2019), 1985–2050.

Michael Björklund

MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES

CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

412 96 GOTHENBURG, SWEDEN

email: micbjo@chalmers.se

Tobias Hartnick

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

KARLSRUHE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

76049 Karlsruhe, Germany

email: tobias.hartnick@kit.edu

Yakov Karasik

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS

TECHNION—ISRAEL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY,

HAIFA 3200003, ISRAEL

email: yaakov@campus.technion.ac.il

(Received December 23, 2021 and in revised form October 30, 2023)